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An Overview of Facts and Figures.



Sales EUR mill. 927.3 873.4 750.4 662.3 623.1

Growth in sales % 6.2 16.4 13.3 6.3 11.2

Comprehensive income EUR mill. 60.7 60.9 53.4 43.3 28.4

as a % of sales % 6.6 7.0 7.1 6.5 4.6

Employees (annual average) 5,821 5,328 4,288 3,944 3,836

Cash flow from operating activities EUR mill. 40.5 66.6 76.7 45.2 34.4

ROCE % 25.3 30.0 29.2 25.2 20.3

EBIT EUR mill. 99.4 102.1 87.4 70.3 49.0

as a % of sales % 10.7 11.7 11.6 10.6 7.9

EBITDA EUR mill. 128.5 129.7 114.7 94.4 71.0

as a % of sales % 13.9 14.9 15.3 14.3 11.4

Investments EUR mill. 47.4 58.2 38.6 26.7 59.6

as a % of cash flow from operating activities % 117.3 87.4 50.3 59.1 173.3

Depreciation EUR mill. 29.1 27.7 27.3 24.1 22.0

R&D expenditure EUR mill. 27.6 24.1 21.7 19.4 18.5

as a % of sales % 3.0 2.8 2.9 2.9 3.0

Equity EUR mill. 297.7 265.5 230.3 191.0 154.6

Equity ratio % 46.6 42.7 45.1 42.8 36.9

Earnings per share EUR 6.15 6.12 5.36 4.33 2.84

WILO Group figures

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

2003 2004 2005 2006

7.9 10.6 11.6 11.7 10.7

2007

18.5 19.4 21.7 24.1

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

27.6

EBIT
as a % of sales

R&D expenditure
in EUR mill.



Western Europe2) 327.6 35.3 268.8 43.1 5.1

Germany 181.3 19.6 150.5 24.2 4.8

Eastern Europe 221.7 23.9 86.6 13.9 26.5

Asia 149.0 16.1 90.5 14.5 13.3

Other regions 47.7 5.1 26.7 4.3 15.6

Total 927.3 100.0 623.1 100.0 10.4

Regional sales development 2003 - 2007

(EUR mill.) 2007 in % 2003 in % CAGR1) %

Heating and air-conditioning 545.8 58.9 369.6 59.3 10.2

Water supply and sewage treatment 357.2 38.5 231.5 37.2 11.5

Other segments 24.3 2.6 22.0 3.5 2.5

Total 927.3 100.0 623.1 100.0 10.4

Sales development by business segment 2003 - 2007

(EUR mill.) 2007 in % 2003 in % CAGR1) %

3,836 3,944 4,288 5,328

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

5,821623.1 662.3 750.4 873.4

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

927.3

Sales revenue
in EUR mill.

Employees
annual average

1)Compound annual growth rate
2)Not including Germany
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Report of the Executive Board. 5

In 2007, the growth of the WILO Group continued with a 6.2%

increase in turnover, to € 927 million and further gains in mar-

ket share. This was despite a tough operating climate for our

core businesses – heating and air-conditioning – particu-

larly in Germany and Korea. 

The strongest growth was again in our water supply and waste-

water disposal businesses, which achieved double-digit growth.

The main reason for this was the Eastern European countries’

high level of investment in infrastructure. Strategic focus and

projects in this sector are therefore a key area of development.

In 2007, WILO industrial sector sales fell short of target,

because there are product gaps – however, these gaps are

being steadily filled. The OEM (Original Equipment Manufac-

turers) and industrial building technology sectors beat their

targets for development. 

WILO has benefited significantly from a large increase in

demand for energy-efficient pumps and systems - sales of our

high-efficiency pump Wilo-Stratos have gone from strength

to strength. In September, Stiftung Warentest published test

results which proved that the pump performed better than

all its competitors in terms of energy efficiency and price-

performance ratio. 

There was a significant increase in research and development

investment in 2007, both in our subsidiaries and to give us the

impetus to break into new markets. The company is now set

to benefit from this in future years. 

In most locations the number of employees has risen. An

international employee survey, which had higher employee

participation than in previous years, revealed that WILO

employees identify strongly with the company. Constructive

observations on the working environment have again produced

a wealth of new ideas and opportunities for improvement. 

Customer satisfaction as ever was at the heart of our business

in 2007. Surveys in 15 countries identified a strong WILO

brand loyalty. Both surveys have resulted in further initiatives

in these areas. 

At the end of 2007 Dr. Horst D. Elsner retired from his position

as Chairman of the Executive Board. New Chairman Dr. Thomas

Schweisfurth had been in charge of Marketing and Sales for

the past three years. 

In 2008, the WILO Group has its eye on € 1 billion sales and is

pursuing ambitious plans in order to achieve this. The 136th

year in the company’s history will be characterised by further

integration of our latest acquisitions and further development

of newly created support bases and partnerships. WILO will

continue to drive its business forward in an efficient and

evolutionary way through customer-led products, sales and

marketing strategies. The European drive for energy efficiency

will also propel our business forward. 

Dortmund, March 2008

Jérôme Perrod
CIO Operations 

Dr. Thomas Schweisfurth
CIO Marketing and Sales,

Chairman of the Executive Board

Oliver Hermes
CIO Finance, Controlling 
and Human Resources 

Strength to strength
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WILO’s on-going success can be attributed to its fostering

of strong customer relationships, close involvement in the

marketplace and innovation, together with high product and

excellent service quality. All this, coupled with brand strength,

problem solving competence and the performance benefits

of our products, has helped WILO to grow from a family-run

business with long-standing traditions into a global leader.

The Group’s overall business strategy starts with the custo-

mer needs and benefits. WILO is renowned for its innovative

approach to improving business relationships. Between March

and August 2007, a roadshow truck tour visited key customers

in many eastern and northern European countries – customers

were updated on WILO’s problem-solving solutions for

municipal and industrial water supply and wastewater disposal.  

Continuous customer feedback

WILO’s success in the marketplace is the result of its close and

trusting cooperation with its OEM partners, planners, decision

makers, specialist tradesmen, general contractors, investors in

plant and all users of our products. Every other year customer

satisfaction surveys are carried out to ensure we have con-

tinuous and up-to-date customer feedback. The surveys,

organised centrally by an accredited market research institute,

aim to highlight any potential for improvement and initiate

suggestions so that changes can be made where necessary. 

The results of the survey are evaluated jointly with the College

of Higher Education in Münster and are then presented at

workshops to the relevant regional business units for further

analysis by the people responsible for the respective markets.

So far, representative customer satisfaction analysis has been

carried out in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, The Netherlands,

Belgium, Norway, Sweden, Finland, the Czech Republic, Spain,

Italy, Denmark, Poland, Korea and China. While the results

showed high levels of customer satisfaction with WILO’s per-

formances there is still room for improvement in some areas. 

In the OEM sector, the WILO performance profile is evaluated

quarterly by our most important customers. In 2007, a project

for software-assisted customer loyalty was rolled out, to help

with the international management of our global customer

relationships (Customer Relationship Management).

Market-leading high-efficiency pumps 

Our German and Austrian heating and air-conditioning

businesses had to compete in a sector which was suffering

from a heavy slump in demand. In Germany, sales of heat

generators fell by 25% despite the fact that there remain

17 million heating systems in operation which are on average

more than 24 years old and with no more than 12% of these

complying with the latest technology standards. However,

the high-efficiency pump Wilo-Stratos ECO achieved out-

standing growth in this sector, The Stratos ECO was given an

“excellent” rating by the Stiftung Warentest, Germany’s leading

consumer organisation, in terms of energy efficiency and

price-performance ratio, beating all the comparable heating

pumps of our competitors. With a score of 1.3, the Stratos ECO

received the highest evaluation in terms of energy efficiency,

and, according to the test measurements taken, energy costs

were 23% below the second ranking pump tested and 80%

below the worst. 

Our entire range of unregulated heating pumps for the German

market went through an overhaul in 2007 and was upgraded

to energy efficiency category B. WILO is the only pump

manufacturer to offer its entire standard pump range in this

energy efficiency class. A 5-year tradesman warranty for all

wet runner pumps has been introduced and WILO has joined

the Handwerkermarke, a mark of quality approval.

WILO reaching out to the customer
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In our municipal water management business the sales

department has been reorganised and target-group-specific

teams created to look after key accounts and improve relation-

ships with local partners. Together with the company Side, an

inline pump has been developed for transporting wastewater

in rural areas and moving sewage water to the nearest waste-

water treatment plant. Due to stricter legislation regarding the

treatment of wastewater from isolated homes or from villages

without a sewage system, the demand for solutions for the

separation and recycling of solids has increased dramatically.

In addition the rainwater harvesting system Récupéo was

successfully launched. 

A brand survey conducted during 2007 found that Salmson is

perceived as “customer-friendly and brand oriented towards

problem-solving” and is a company with great customer

relations. We expect this situation will continue to improve

and to help this along, in December, a 5-year warranty for

all heating pumps in the energy efficiency category A was

introduced in France and Italy. 

Market penetration

Our market position in the Mediterranean area has scope

for expansion with new and extended partnerships, where

customer relations have also been the main concern. In

Italy, Spain and Portugal the sales teams were increased and

specialist teams established, consisting of three experts

responsible for the technical support of customer services. 

WILO also gained a foothold in the Maghreb states (Tunisia,

Algeria and Morocco). Heating and air-conditioning pumps

and systems have been installed in several large hotels and

iconic projects, such as the Palace of Fes in Morocco. In Algiers

we established strong relationships with public authorities,

engineering firms and decision makers for our municipal water

management business. The Group’s presence in the Middle

East grew significantly through the use of the product portfolio

of our Indian subsidiary, Mather & Platt. As is the case every-

where close customer contact and meeting customer’s needs

is a route to success with new applications. In Yemen we sold

split-case pumps for use in a gas liquifaction plant. 

High efficiency technology in global demand 

In 2007, the UK businesses Circulating Pumps and CCD

Pumps, acquired by WILO in 2006, were consolidated and

fully integrated into the Group. In 2007 they achieved

impressive double-digit growth. 

In the heating and air-conditioning business sector, high-

efficiency pumps were in demand. With increased project

business and new contracts we expect this area to grow

30% to 40% over the next few years. Further expansion of

the service organisation had a strong positive effect on

customer loyalty. 

8 Customers and markets.

Strong growth in the industrial market place

Industrial business in the German-speaking regions has had

a positive year - WILO sales have grown 7.5%. Sales of our

industrial water supply, wastewater disposal, energy efficient

industrial and commercial systems grew by 25%. Deliveries to

OEMs increased by 6.5%, the core products being industrial

cooling and heating pumps. In 2007, WILO made considerable

gains in this sector - in the conventional heating equipment

market a 55% market share was achieved, while heat pumps

reached 65% and solar equipment 75%. 

In 2007, WILO consolidated its position as the top supplier to

leading heating system manufacturers. Special pump types

Crono and Vero were supplied as boiler circulation and heating

circulation pumps on large boilers. In product development,

focus on quality and value fostered improvements to our

hydraulic systems and white goods-based components. During

2007, WILO was the only European pump manufacturer to be

given membership of the European Heat Industry Association

– impressive proof of its close customer relationship with

boiler manufacturers. 

Double-digit growth was achieved in the municipal water

management sector, where the energy efficiency of the pumps,

plants and systems and lifecycle costs were the key issues

for our customers There was increasing demand for WILO

pure water pumps for well repairs and WILO agitators for

wastewater treatment plants. In 2007, several international

agreements and contracts were signed with pan-European

operating plant construction companies and plant operators

and wholesalers. 

On large-scale business projects, our customer-friendly

“pumps and services from one source” initiative was well

received. In October, the WILO EMU Wassertage event, held in

Adlersberg bei Regensburg, attracted more than 400 decision

makers from industrial and municipal water supply and

wastewater management. We introduced a special advisory

service called “Energy Efficiency” for customers from industry

and commerce. 

Success in Europe’s second largest market

Falling just short of double-digit growth, the French subsidiary

Salmson nonetheless grew substantially in 2007. In the heating/

air-conditioning sector “high efficiency” and “environmentally-

friendly solutions” were particularly critical issues. Important

general pan-European contracts were agreed with large sales

partners. Salmson pumps and systems were specified on

a significantly larger number of public and commercial building

projects during 2007 and, in this respect, the company

benefited from improved information flow from planners. In

conjunction with large boiler manufacturers and with Gaz de

France, the company organised the “Route des Etoiles”, a

series of information days for engineering firms, which

increased our brand recognition and product familiarity and

brought the company closer to its customers in the French

market. Our sales and distribution teams strengthened their

contacts with trades people. In 2008, the “Clubs Installateurs“

(Clubs for fitters/tradesmen) was initiated in Salmson’s product

ranges to build on our relations and the Yaka-Box Salmson, a

time-saving and versatile “First Aid Toolbox”, has been

developed for fitters to use in repair work. 

Excellent customer relations is WILO Group’s
trademark. Regular customer satisfaction 

surveys are closely analysed by the business
units and, where necessary, improvement

measures are implemented immediately. WILO
is focussed on what its customers want – 

the company is the pump and pump system 
supplier of choice for iconic building projects

across the world, such as the new Tour
Granite in the Parisian office quarter, 

La Défense, or the Moroccan Sultan’s palace,
Dar el Markhzen, in Fes.



Winning over customers in Eastern Europe relies on good

management; intensive personal customer liaison and strong

local support. In Russia alone, 110 employees in 25 offices

work in sales, which helped bring about increased turnover

of 30% in 2007.

The real benefit of service to the customer

WILO International Service has been reorganised in 2007 and

is now a process-oriented customer service organisation

with the aim of offering customers further benefits. In this

case, our service culture starts with the customer. If a customer

cannot immediately obtain a certain spare part, the process

chain is traced from the customer back to the individual

departments of the company in order to determine where

exactly the problem lies. Through this, WILO’s processes

undergo continuous on-going improvement.

Additional customer benefit through communication

WILO builds on its strong relationships through ongoing day-

to-day communication with target groups using trade and

technical magazines, interactive design of the website and

regular discussions with focus groups from our customer base.

Customer feedback is directed to improving our performance.

Technical data sheets have been made more user-friendly,

training programmes has become more differentiated and

our website now has a product search facility. 

Our entire marketing strategy is consistently focussed on

customer benefits. Documents and marketing support are

tailored to the individual needs of our market partners. The

Truck Tour, the provision of advice and guidance tools for

trades people together with communications about energy

efficiency and the CO2 emissions-cutting potential of our

high-efficiency pumps have all been central to our 2007

programme. An SMS exchange index was established, through

which tradesmen can identify within 30 seconds the most

suitable WILO pump when they require a pump exchange.

Our entire catalogue system has become more user-friendly.

International training and professional development has also

been improved and more widely promoted. The WILO ‘brain’

simulated training concept has been rolled out to five other

countries. Through partner seminars comes a new platform

for training and exchanging experiences, where WILO provides

training jointly with a complementary manufacturer. A diverse

range of topics is covered in depth and this seminar format

has been met with excellent feedback from participants.

During 2007, customers from the Indian Pacific region were

trained for the first time and in China and Korea the train-the-

trainer concept has also been introduced. 

The drive of our communication has been to offer our custo-

mers and their operations increased benefits and efficiency

from WILO’s products. 

WILO expanded its position in the North American market

where high-efficiency pumps were introduced in 2007.

US building technology is increasingly demanding energy

efficiency, resulting in a growing desire for our high-technology

products. As a result WILO has set up a dedicated assembly

line for this business sector in Chicago. 

Our Thomasville facility in Georgia was expanded. Here not

only pumps and systems for industrial and municipal water

supply and wastewater disposal can be assembled, but can

be tested on a large test stand and inspected by customers

on site. In addition, the processing of rotors is possible on large

machine tools so that the flow rate can be adjusted for the

particular application. There are plans for pump casings to be

processed here in the future. 

In the industrial and municipal water supply and wastewater

disposal sector, a lifelong product guarantee for seals was

introduced – a unique selling point in the American market.

America has numerous old and outmoded wastewater treat-

ment plants which must be updated over the coming years.

Environmental protection is a growing concern in the US.

American planners and general contractors have visited our

production facilities in Dortmund and Hof and projects using

WILO pump technology, such as the US military base at Grafen-

wöhr. These personal contacts open up access to large-scale

projects – sometimes an insurmountable hurdle for non-

American companies. Locally, WILO has organised simulated

training seminars for wholesalers and fitters in order to inform

them about benefits of our pump technology. 

High market growth in Asia

In Asia, the WILO Group further increased its market presence

through a continent-spanning sales organisation and, in 2007,

with five more production locations in India, Korea and China.

The new factory in Qinhuangdao (China) produces high quality

motors for dry runner pump production in China and Korea.

From 2008, China will also produce motors for the European

locations.

Currently, pumps assembled in Peking are almost exclusively

for the Chinese market - only 10% are exported. A local

production facility is important for servicing local customers.

Here, special test equipment is available to make specific

adjustments to the pumps in order to meet the customer’s

specific needs. The sales network in China was also expanded

and WILO now has representative offices in all the important

economic centres in the country. Preparations were made for

new Indonesian and Vietnamese subsidiaries which will come

on stream in 2008. 

Great potential for municipal business in Eastern Europe 

In 2007, WILO had 18 subsidiaries and 11 representative offices

in Eastern Europe, ensuring excellent market coverage. In many

of these subsidiaries, dedicated market organisations were

created with specialist teams for building services engineering,

industry and municipal business. Importantly, the poor state

of the municipal water management infrastructure has huge

potential for WILO business in the coming years. Indeed this

was the focus of our Truck Tour. 

In Thomasville, Georgia, USA, production facilities
were expanded and a testing plant established,
where customers can test and assess for 
themselves pumps and systems for municipal
water supply and wastewater disposal. Between
95% and 98% of all spare parts are stocked by
WILO International Service in factory service 
centres, such as in Istanbul, where factory 
repairs are also carried out. 

Customers and markets. 1110 Customers and markets.
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Before the truck rolled into a town, local press releases and

publicity ensured a high public profile for each event. The

stop-off in Georgia was covered by local TV. The stop-off in

the Turkish holiday resort of Antalya tied in with 50 decision

makers and planners from Latvia, Belarus, Lithuania and Estonia

attending a WILO seminar at the hotel next to the esplanade

where the truck was parked. The most popular location was

Ankara, where the Turkish subsidiary managed to attract

over 200 guests.

Challenges overcome

The five-month tour kicked off on March 23 in Spindleruv

Mlyn in the Czech Republic and ended on August 22 in Lang-

Lebring in the Austrian province of Styria. There were just two

burst tyres and a hydraulic gauge which had to be changed,

despite the somewhat adventurous road conditions at times.

In Georgia, the team covered just 650km in four days. The

lowest temperature was a chilling -11°C in Romania, the

highest a balmy 34°C in Russia. The most testing times for

the team were the long waits at the border controls, often

lasting late into the night. Of all the crossings on run-down

ferries, the four day voyage across the Black Sea from Trabzon

in Turkey to Sotschi in Russia was the low point – with no

sanitary facilities nor showers.

Big success with customers old and new 

The roadshow proved a tremendous success, as shown by the

customer testimonies gathered at the end of each event.

The information provided and the content of the presentations

and talks were met with great acclaim and in the vast majority

of cases rated “very good” or “good”. The feedback from

WILO subsidiaries, who had put a great deal of effort into

organising the events, was also very positive.

Not only has WILO’s international business, particularly in

Eastern Europe, been given a welcome boost from the tour

but so too has the municipal and public sector’s awareness

of the WILO brand. In several of the countries visited the

company was previously only known as a popular business

partner for circulation pumps. However, the tour provided the

opportunity for WILO to demonstrate its experience and

competence in municipal water supply, sewage treatment

and waste water treatment plant technology. The roadshow

has given a boost to WILO’s high profile and presence, both

regionally and worldwide.

WILO took to the road in 2007, a truck 
travelled through 16 countries, mainly in
Eastern Europe. The team presented the

latest pumps, pump systems and technology
for municipal water supply, sewage treatment

and wastewater treatment to more than
7,000 planners and decision-makers in over
80 cities. As well as presenting performance

and application guidance on the products,
the roadshow also provided information

about life-cycle costs.

12 Case study – Municipal applications.

Pumps on the Road

In 2007 WILO road-tested a novel way of building new

customer contacts as well as strengthening existing ones.

A team took to the road in a 40-tonne truck with a specially

designed exhibition space in a 90 m2 trailer. Between March and

August the pump roadshow team clocked up nearly 30,000 km,

visiting more than 80 towns in 16 countries across northern,

central and eastern Europe. WILO’s pump and pump system

ranges were presented to more than 7,000 customers, planners

and key decision makers.

New solutions

The roadshow presentations focussed on the municipal water

supply and the waste water treatment market. As well as

helping WILO subsidiaries build up contacts with planners,

main contractors and operators in the territories visited, the

team presented WILO’s latest products and solutions to as

many customers and potential customers as possible.

The latest WILO EMU Megaprop innovations in waste water

treatment technology were showcased – drinking water

reclamation borehole pumps with improved capabilities and

featuring the new generation “Coolact” engines (Wilo EMU

KM 1300), process-reliable and durable submersible waste

water motor pumps with innovative cooling systems for use

in treatment plants (WILO EMU FA with Motor FKT 27.1) and

submersible motor-driven agitators with smooth running and

shear force that save energy and operating costs.

Case studies showing WILO technology’s proven track record

of success over many years and life-cycle cost-saving

calculations supplemented the presentations. Experts from

WILO subsidiaries demonstrated the applications of the pumps

and pump systems, operators were presented with a range of

options to run their plants cost-effectively and consultants

and service companies were presented with modified and

new pump solutions.

The Roadshow comes to town

Stop-off points were carefully chosen by WILO subsidiaries,

wherever possible near to a water supply operator, water treat-

ment or sewage plant. Subsidiaries organised the presentations

and hospitality and the most important decision makers,

technical managers and planners within a 50 km radius were

invited. At each event between 50 and 100 attendees were

introduced to the latest products, shown a film about the

company’s competence and proven track record in problem

solving, followed by a 30-minute talk from WILO’s experts.

Afterwards guests networked over refreshments, while a virtual

truck racing skills simulator went down a storm with everyone.



Employees and organisation. 15

WILO’s success relies on many factors but one of the most

important is the workforce and the market-oriented organisa-

tional structure of the worldwide Group. WILO benefits from

a horizontal command structure, a team approach and open

interaction between employees. This team spirit, borne of the

company’s origins as a family enterprise, not only applies to the

smaller units, such as the Hamburg sales team, but also exists

in countries and cultures across the entire Group. This forms

the basis for the company’s relationships with its customers. 

Expansion of customer support 

Developers, investors, decision-makers, planners, wholesalers

and professional tradesmen from over 70 countries trust the

quality of our products which set the benchmarks in terms

of technical performance and efficiency by which others

are judged. Our customers also appreciate and value our

decentralised culture, which ensures that even in the most

remote territories a member of WILO staff is on hand to

provide support. Our guaranteed highest quality of products

and services and continuous process improvements, integrated

by the new WILO production system (WPS), ensure maximum

benefits for the customer. In 2007 WILO’s service, which has

set the standard in European countries, was expanded into

additional markets across the globe in a professional and

structured way. To open up and service new growth markets

of Eastern Europe and Asia, additional sales companies have

been established with further sales operations ready to come

on line in 2008.

In 2007, an average of 5,821 members of staff were employed

by the WILO Group – an increase of 493 employees compared

to the previous year. Further expansion of the global workforce

is planned, particularly in customer-support. 

International teamwork for China start-up

Our international operations have featured continued speciali-

sation at our production sites. The manufacture of electric

motors of up to 4 kW has been relocated from Korea to the

new plant WILO ELELC in Qinhuangdao, China. Motors for

the Asian market, and for European markets, are now being

produced here. In the planning and start-up phases of pro-

duction in China international teams from Germany, France and

Korea worked closely, jointly agreeing practical solutions, and

overcoming different ways of working and different cultures. 

Cooperation between the Chinese and the Korean operations –

who have taken on the industrial management and profit

responsibility in Qinhuangdao – shows that it is not only

international communication that is working at WILO but also

our considerable capability to coordinate complex, cross-

border projects. This is of particular benefit to the customer.

In Europe and North America, WILO has very close links with

its customers in Asia. To achieve this, 12 large offices in the

most important economic centres of the country cater for

the rapidly growing customer base. 

R&D in Asia 

Proximity to customers was the deciding factor in setting up

our own research and development facility at the Indian

subsidiary of Mather & Platt Pumps in Pune. In the first quarter

of 2007, 12 engineers from India went through a rigorous

training programme at the Research & Development Centre

in Dortmund. Since then, 10 have been working on fluid

mechanics and another two on electronics, mechanics and

material development. In Pune they are developing system

solutions for the Asian market tailored to meet these specific

customer needs. Hydraulic capacities are being designed and

bespoke prototypes engineered. During this initial stage the

young team is receiving extensive support from experienced

German colleagues. The Indian team is also working closely

Looking after our global customer base
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Over 1,550 hours were spent on professional development at

the Laval location in France by 105 employees being trained

to improve product quality. The competence team backed up

by customer support provided over the phone has served to

improve customer satisfaction. Customer relations was also

the focus of sales training in Germany. The WILO induction

ensures new employees are fully aware how to achieve the

company’s “customer satisfaction” goal. 

An important part of young trainees’ personnel development

is professional training. In total 109 young people trained as

apprentices in Germany during 2007. The German locations

run professional education in subjects such as Business Studies,

IT, industrial mechanics, precision mechanics, electronics,

mechatronics and design draftsmanship.

In France job-starters are trained in technical distribution,

research and development, order management, IT, technology.

maintenance and quality control. 

Satisfied employees = satisfied customers

In autumn 2007, the second international employee survey

was carried out by the WILO Group. Almost two thirds (65%)

of the Group’s employees took part in the worldwide survey –

five percent more than in previous years. Employees were

openly encouraged to provide constructive comments about

the company and our business operations. This open feedback

culture was established during the series of improvement

workshops organised after our first employee survey. 

Above average ratings were again achieved in terms of

employee loyalty to the company and satisfaction with his or

her own job. There was high approval of the initiatives from

the 2005 survey, after which many new measures were imple-

mented and their effectiveness tested. The latest employee

survey will again deliver a wealth of new suggestions for further

improvement, which will greatly benefit our customers.

Satisfied employees will create satisfied customers. To reap

customer benefits from the employee survey, suggestions

and findings will be correlated with those from our customer

satisfaction survey and the integrated results will lead to

improvements in our procedures.
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with the best technical colleges in the country. The team also

plans to work on development projects for Mather & Platt

Pumps from next year. 

Employees qualified through apprenticeships and

professional development

The increasing globalisation of the WILO Group has necessitated

programmes of professional development – particularly in

regard to cooperation with India, Korea and France – by way

of intercultural training events. Members of the workforce were

given special coaching to prepare them for working abroad.

In 2007 the first German-Franco team development training

programme designed to foster mutual understanding and a

common working culture. All participants were extremely

positive with regards to the training and this has led to signifi-

cant improvement in the level of collaboration. To improve

the English language skills of more members of staff, a new

programme was implemented in Germany which promotes

the learning of English in small groups, which meet regularly

after work. 

To maintain and improve our employees’ high standard of

qualifications, for the benefit of our customers, professional

development programmes covering more than 150 different

topics have been organised in Germany, at an average cost of

€ 665 per person. The focus is on further education in project

management, self-management and time management,

written and oral presentation techniques and data processing

as well as communication. Another component of personal

development was team development training for working

groups, innovation teams and heads of departments. On

average every employee spent 3.1 days in 2007 at professional

development events. 

In 2007, approximately 1,000 employees participated in 10,500

professional development hours in France. Here the syllabus

ranged from technical topics to organisational changes –

especially through the new WILO production system. The

topics included quality, distribution and sales techniques,

business administration and management, foreign languages,

information technology, research and development and, last

but not least, product knowledge. The overall cost of 2.6%

of the annual salary is double the minimum amount legally

required to be spent on professional development in France. 

Introduction of the WILO Production System
during 2007 has brought about continuous

process improvements at all locations. 
Higher efficiency and improved quality in all

processes maximises the benefits for our 
customers. The new Research & Development

team in India has built up close customer 
relations and developed tailor-made system

solutions for the Asian market which are
tested locally at the testing plant in Pune.
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HafenCity and close to the heartbeat of one of the largest

construction sites in Europe. The team is keeping a close eye

on the 250 individual projects planned for HafenCity. Thimo

Bölck from Customer Services collects any information on

HafenCity and the parties involved, providing vital links to the

relevant planners and decision makers at this early stage.

Thanks to excellent and personal customer relationships

established and nurtured by both the field force and the

planning advisors, it is now common practice for planners

to contact the WILO office directly with inquiries about

pump installations. 

Nothing but “green” pump technology

Technology and support tailored to individual customer

requirements have resulted in the new German head office

of Kühne + Nagel being equipped entirely with WILO pumps.

The global leader in logistics moved into the new building at

Am Großen Grasbrook in the autumn of 2006, accommodating

the majority of their Hamburg employees under one roof.

Their international IT centre has moved to this office complex,

which is characterised by its elegant spaciousness with its

entire structure confidently leaning out towards the water. It

comprises a perimeter block development with six floors and

a 12-storey tower. A three-storey foyer opens up onto the

Marco Polo terraces, creating a stunning entrance area. The

eye-catching tower houses, among other things, training

and conference rooms. Not only does it have a view of the

Grasbrookhafen, where a sports boat marina is to be built. It

also overlooks the whole of the historic Warehouse City and

the city of Hamburg. The Kühne + Nagel complex has been

fitted with a controlled booster station type COR-4 MVIE 204-

2G for the water supply, the AF400-2 MVI 807 special solution

for rainwater collection and for wastewater disposal sewage

lifting units, including the Drainlift XL 2/10. 

High-efficiency Stratos pumps and controlled, parallel

connected (IP-E) and uncontrolled dry runner pumps (RS

and IPL) provide the heating and air-conditioning solution.

Ventilation is supported by RS wet runner pumps and IPL dry

runner pumps. For fire extinguishing purposes, the uncontrolled

single pump booster station CO-1 MVI 1610-ERSD has

been installed. 

Listed for most projects

Since 2007, HafenCity is not only growing rapidly with individual

buildings but simultaneously by whole new quarters. In seven

of the eleven construction areas, building is taking place on

84 different sites. WILO AG and its products have been specified

on almost all planned or completed projects – a tremendous

achievement as a result of high performance and quality

bespoke solutions together with excellent customer relations. 

High performance, quality and strong customer
relations, have combined to great effect, 
resulting in WILO’s pumps and pump systems
being used in all the projects at HafenCity - 
a new development in the City of Hamburg,
beside the river Elbe. Having supplied the 
new head offices of Kühne & Nagel at the
Grasbrookhafen, WILO will also provide pump
technology for the planned lighthouse project 
in the area of the Elbphilharmonie concert hall,
ensuring flawless operation and performance. 
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Pumps and pump systems for the project of the century

The large scale city expansion of “HafenCity”, in the Free and

Hanseatic City of Hamburg, is setting a new benchmark for

European developments. Covering an area of 155 hectares, a

brand new quarter is being developed in the heart of Hamburg

city centre. To be completed by 2025, this area is designed to

provide a new mix of culture, leisure, retail outlets and restau-

rants, inner city living and working, squares and promenades. 

HafenCity will enlarge Hamburg’s present city centre by about

40% – 1.8 million square metres of gross floor space is

being built, with 5,500 flats for 12,000 inhabitants, as well

as facilities for service providers which will create 40,000

new jobs.

Exemplary city planning 

The redesign retains Hamburg’s characteristic and historic

role as a port and commercial centre. The new quarter is

directly connected to the sea. The entire area will be built

using the ‘dwelling mound’ principle and will be raised to a

floodproof level of at least 7.5 metres above sea level, while

retaining direct access to the water and to the existing harbour.

The design is sympathetic to Hamburg’s traditional identity

as a maritime city and takes into consideration the city’s

historic buildings.

The Old Warehouse District, including the impressive harbour

buildings of Quayside Warehouses A and B, will remain. Hafen

City will grow from west to east and from north to south. The

first quarter, Am Sandtorkai, has already been completed; the

second, the Dalmannkai, will be finished this year. Construction

work has already started on a further five quarters. The light-

house project, known as the Elb-Philharmonics, is being built

on the Quayside Warehouse A site. Leading Swiss architects

Herzog & de Meuron have designed a roof inspired by a sloping

wave landscape. This has received much international acclaim

and provides the connection between the old harbour traditions

and the new cultural identity of the area. Earlier this year, the

International Maritime Museum of Hamburg opened its doors

to the public in its new home at Quayside Warehouse B.

The development of many of the office areas has continued

apace. HafenCity pioneer, software developer SAP, moved in

near the water’s edge five years ago in 2003, and has been

followed by international freight forwarding agent Kühne +

Nagel, which has also set up its new German headquarters

in the development. Amongst the builder-owners who have

located their head offices in HafenCity are Amango pure Enter-

tainment, der Germanische Lloyd, the Neumann and Spiegel

Groups and Unilever. Some public squares and promenades

have been built, while others are under construction. Many are

already in use, successfully connecting a variety of buildings

and cultural facilities. 

Success through well-established contacts 

WILO is also playing its part in this ‘project of the century’

for the Hanseatic city. The WILO sales department team

North operates from the Berliner Tor Center, within sight of the
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2007 again saw the WILO Group raise the bar with several

technological developments improving both the performance

and efficiency of its pumps range. Across the world its pumps

and pump systems for heating, cooling, air-conditioning, water

supply and wastewater disposal are being used in commercial

and private buildings, in municipal facilities and in industry.

WILO’s latest technology will feature in the Federation Tower,

which will be Europe’s highest building and the centrepiece

of the new international business centre, “Moscow City”. 

Efficiency across our product ranges

There was exceptional customer interest in WILO’s products

and systems at ISH 2007, the world’s leading trade fair for

sanitary, building, energy and air-conditioning technology

and renewable energy. There were more than 215,000 visitors

to the Frankfurt fair between March 6 and 10 - 12% up on

the 2005 fair. Interest was focused on WILO’s high-efficiency

pumps, proof that with spiralling energy costs WILO’s energy

saving innovations will reap their rewards. WILO’s technological

superiority over its competitors was confirmed by the leading

German consumer organisation, Stiftung Warentest, which

rated the high-efficiency WILO Stratos ECO pump “excellent”

for energy efficiency and price-performance, beating off

the competition. 

Significant efforts have been made to improve the energy

efficiency of WILO’s pumps and systems, resulting in numerous

new products , which are setting new standards. The WILO

inline pumps which have phenomenal hydraulic efficiency

have contributed significantly to this year’s growth in sales.

At the close of 2007, the new Crono-Norm series type EN 733

was introduced to the market. Amongst WILO’s most innovative

product developments last year were pump parts made from

stainless steel and bespoke electronic pump modules.

Due to high demand for WILO’s pumps and systems, production

capacities were significantly expanded in all of the major

product departments. At Oschersleben in East Germany, the

manufacturing centre for booster stations, output hit the

capacity limits. The group benefited in 2007 from the first

full year of production from WILO ELEC – the Group’s new

electric motor plant in China. 

Leading the way in innovation

WILO’s pump-solutions can be tailored to meet individual

customer’s requirements thereby prompting bespoke solutions,

resulting in successful new developments and innovations and

underlining WILO’s leadership in technology. 

In 2007, the group filed 12 developments for patents, inclu-

ding, the high-efficiency OEM series Stratos PARA variant with

EC motor for heat pumps. The Stratos is the only heating pump

product range on the market with ECM technology, which

offers class A energy efficiency and was a result of working

closely with our Swedish and US heating pump manufacturer

customers. 

The Multi+ project saw a complete redesign of the MVI-range

of multi-level stainless steel centrifugal pumps. Extensive

testing of materials and welding technology as well as fluid

mechanics resulted in this product innovation. WILO will now

be able to supply bespoke pumps for different applications

while beating the hydraulic peak performances of the

competition. WILO can also meet more complex customer

needs as well as a greater diversity of customer requirements –

there is a greater range of technical parts giving WILO the

ability to service more applications. 

More models have been added to the inline and block pump

series. The broad range of electronic types has expanded

to offer several different solutions tailored to meet customer

requirements. The high level of engine efficiency and

hydraulics positions these pumps as the market leader for

energy efficiency. 

Added value for customers: WILO sets the benchmark
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Demanding specifications are likely to be future European

norms for energy-consuming products. Through our pumps’

improved levels of efficiency, significant energy savings will

be achieved. WILO has developed efficiency improvements in

the design of the hydraulic rotor disc, guide wheel and the

electric motor. Calculations and simulations were carried out

at our Research & Development Centre in Dortmund, while

practical work took place at Laval, in France. Prototypes were

manufactured and tested there and, after being presented

to the authorities for approval by our Korean subsidiary,

our production facility in Kimhae was changed to meet the

requirements of the approval process. 

The new development of the MVI pump provides the customer

with improvements in life-cycle costs, due to significant

energy-savings, lower maintenance requirements and longer

service life. 

Investing in the future

WILO plans to invest € 10 million in the Multi+ project over

the next three years. The development of new stainless steel

high-efficiency hydraulic systems has required highly technical

workmanship, involving laser welding, automation and robotics.

Investment in CMS technology has given WILO a technological

advantage in the manufacture of chip cards. A newly developed

cluster of high performance data processors has brought pump

simulations even closer to reality and was necessary to achieve

the high performance levels required and to develop the use of

complex materials. In addition, considerable investment was

made in decentralised pump systems, for the development

of the Stratos PARA for heating pumps and to develop a new

programme of agitators for wastewater treatment technology.

A total of € 27.6 million, around 3% of the Group turnover,

was spent on Research & Development. 

Another € 20 million euros was invested in production facilities.

In Laval, France investment was made in the manufacturing

plant for our new MVI hydraulic systems. In Dortmund, the

electronics production was equipped with a high-speed SMD

pick-and-place machine and an automatic optical inspection

system. New motor winding systems, rotary productions, pro-

cessing centres and varnishing booths have also been acquired.

A significant part of the € 20 million investment was spent on

improving productivity, particularly in our finishing operations.
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The entire WILO standard heating pump range has seen signifi-

cant improvements in energy efficiency. WILO is the only

German manufacturer of heating pumps used in small family

homes requiring power supplies of less than 50 w which can

offer products in energy efficiency classes A or B. In the vast

majority of cases, WILO’s larger heating pumps are rated class

C, while most competitor pumps remain class D or lower.

During 2007 a project unit for the development, product

management, sales and process engineering of the revolutio-

nary, fuel-saving simple-to-operate DZP decentralised pump

system was set up. The ARTEC Innovative Systems project

unit is in the Group’s Dortmund Research & Development

Centre. Numerous field tests were carried out in houses,

apartment blocks and offices, with extremely positive results.

Development and preparations for production of the range is

on schedule for the target market launch of this innovative,

high-efficiency system at the end of 2008. 

There were energy improvement developments in our municipal

water management products. A detailed review of our agitators

in clarifiers was completed, with the aim of developing more

efficient systems. Research into innovative propulsion concepts

for larger pumps was also carried out, as well as an investigation

into the use of nano particles to improve the performance of

pump runner bearings.

In the field of electronics, a new, compatible bus standard was

developed with CAN to improve the integration of WILO pumps

in central building control systems. This CAN-bus, which is

based on the unique IF module concept by WILO, can be

connected via gateways to other bus systems and will serve

as a communication platform for electronic pumps in coming

years. The development means the connection and monitoring

of WILO pumps has greater flexibility and more simplicity. 

In addition, the electronics centre in Dortmund developed

an infrared module, which makes it possible to transform a

standard palmtop computer (PDA) into a multi-functional

pump monitor. New high-speed infrared standard facilities

have significantly higher performance than the existing IR

monitor, and can store, document and visualise pump data.

The internet also continues to play an important role in

diagnostics and remote maintenance of building-technical

installation systems. The Group is steadily bringing together

the latest communication technology and evolving WILO pump

intelligence to meet the future needs of our customers. 

Testing in the markets

In 2007, the 8-inch series, part of the new generation of multi-

level MVI pumps developed as part of the Multi+ project,

received an important seal of approval as an energy-saving

product from the Korean Energy Management Company

(KEMCO). This quality seal entitles our South Korean customers

to state funding. Meeting the KEMCO energy standards may

not be a precondition for the Korean marketplace but the

funding has a strong influence on buyers’ behaviour. 

Highly efficient technology, across its product
range, means WILO can give the end user 

considerable energy savings and reduce their
CO2 emissions. The heating pump WILO

Stratos ECO has been rated test winner by
leading German consumer organisation

Stiftung Warentest for both energy efficiency
and price-performance ratio. Stratos PARA is

the world’s only high efficiency pump for heat
pump installations. In future, efficiency class 1

electric motors will be manufactured at the
new production facility in China.
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High customer satisfaction

WILO teams across the world have again shown great commit-

ment to customer satisfaction during 2007, including on-site

technical support, joint initiatives to improve quality, quick

reaction times when speedy support is called for and the

implementation of logistical solutions perfectly tailored to

customer requirements. 

This dedication to our customer was recognised, when WILO

was elected “Supplier of the Year” by the heating pump manu-

facturer Bosch/IVT in Sweden, and when heating installation

manufacturer Viessmann commended the WILO Intec team for

its “commitment to quality and logistics.” In the UK the central

heating boiler manufacturer Baxi signed a long term partnership

agreement for the supply of pumps, after being impressed by

our redesign of the hydraulic system for its boilers. Heating

installation manufacturer Vaillant also signed a long-term

supply contract, following the installation of a high-tech

assembly line by WILO at their Trencin plant in Slovakia. The

MTS Group and Bitron have included WILO in the Galileo

project, which will pioneer a hydraulic block on a fully auto-

mated production line. Furthermore, WILO is the only pump

manufacturer with membership of the European Heating

Industry Association (EHI) and with the EHI is helping create

an energy efficiency classification for boilers. 

Close customer ties

In 2008, WILO will continue with the development of its large

strategic programmes and will focus on developing energy-

saving and customer-friendly solutions, as well as on the

continued improvement of its delivery organisation. Customer

service and short delivery times continue to have the highest

priority. As a result, when planning expansion of production

plants, WILO will consider the needs of regional markets and

the importance of staying close to its customers. 

All investments in research and development, production and

quality have one goal at heart - to achieve increased efficiency

and lower lifecycle costs for our products. This will not only

ensure financial success for the WILO Group but also for our

customers – planners, wholesalers, professional tradesmen

and investors. 

From pressure increase to rainwater harvesting,
WILO’s is the only pump technology installed 
in the new state-of-the-art head office of
logistics company Kühne + Nagel in Hamburg –
testimony to WILO’s broad range of pumps 
and pump systems, characterised by high 
energy efficiency and low lifecycle costs. 
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New production facilities off to a great start

During 2007, 200,000 electric motors for dry-runner

pumps were manufactured on the first production line in

the new Chinese electric engine plant at Qinhuangdao. Our

particular focus was on the quality of the motors and ensuring

production processes met the exacting standards of the best

European production facilities. The second and third producti-

on lines will be installed in 2008. 

In India, the production capacity of the facility at Pune has

been increased to keep up with more than 30% sales growth.

The product range for the Indian market has been expanded

by multi-level stainless steel centrifugal pumps and booster

plants from the new assembly location in Kholapur. Also 

in 2008, standard pump production will be introduced at

Kholapur as part of further expansion plans. 

Production processes and structures in the UK have been

streamlined, with the different production lines being brought

together under the one roof. To meet the performance

benchmarks of the best European locations, the technical

focus has been on improving the quality of the manufacturing

processes. 

Leading the way in industrial organisation

Following thorough training, the WILO Production System

(WPS) was introduced to all Product Business Units (PBU) at

all locations in 2007. Numerous successfully run pilot projects

brought maximum capacity from our plants and increased

productivity through stringent organisational specifications,

optimised material flow, automatic quality assurance and

analysis of process depth. The process was refined into the

best approach through sharing of experiences between

the locations. The performance level of PBUs had improved

after applying the WPS, so that WILO’s industrial business

continues to make progress against the best available

international benchmarks. 

Quality and sustainability - permanent features

In addition to certifications in accordance with VDA 6.4, QS

9000 and ISO 9001, the WILO Production System is a practical

instrument for continuous improvement and is effective at all

levels, embracing both a zero-defect strategy and the Kaizen

philosophy. As a responsible company keen to introduce energy

efficiency in its products, WILO operates in a sustainable way,

using resources efficiently in all areas of our operations. Details

can be found in the WILO sustainability report which is

published annually. 
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spa and pool areas and a public observation deck. 30 floors will

be taken up by the state-controlled Russian VTB Bank, which

financed 50% of the cost. Building services alone will be taking

up six floors and occupy 15,100 square metres. 

Guarantor of innovative pump technology

WILO pumps will be installed in the Federation Tower to provide

exactly the right temperature, clean air and the water pressure

required together with a flawlessly functioning wastewater

system. WILO beat off stiff competition during the 2006 tender

for Tower B and in 2007 for Tower A by meeting the high

technical specification and quality demanded by the building

management systems and by their rapid response in finding a

technical solution. In total, WILO has delivered over 300 pumps

for the first construction phase, including smaller wet runners

such as Stratos 30/1-12PN16 with EC motor and automatic

performance adjustment, the Top-S with predeterminable

rotation speed, dry runners of the Crono-Inline range, large

standard pumps and various wastewater pumps as well as

complete booster plants. Because of the enormous height

and vast area of the building, powerful pumps for cooling,

wastewater disposal and pressure increases are required

throughout – all requirements have been met by WILO’s

extensive product portfolio. On every fifth floor, pumps for

water supply and heating installations are being installed. The

entire building services are controlled centrally in each tower

via a bus-system which means that all pumps in use must be

able to communicate. In addition, rainwater collection tanks

were built by EMU Port while WILO’s Muscovite subsidiary had

the additional responsibility, together with a sub-contractor,

for the complete installation including piping. 

Focusing on the needs of the customer

Close contact with planners, a rapid reaction time, high flexi-

bility and paying attention to the planning procedures specific

to the country are the prerequisites for successful business

in Russia. With 25 branches, WILO RUS is represented in the

most important regions in the country and 118 employees

maintain constant contact with planning companies. WILO

keeps planners informed and aware of its pump technology and

familiarises potential customers with production locations and

any relevant reference projects at information events. Another

initiative being developed will involve planners and decision

makers from the municipal water supply and wastewater

disposal market place. On top of this, the service is being

expanded across all regions of the country to facilitate quicker

customer response times. Importantly, WILO RUS works with

qualified service providers whose employees receive training

and professional development from WILO. Strategically WILO, a

globally operating pump manufacturer, has a strong foothold

in resource-rich Russia and is participating in the country’s

economic boom. 

The iconic Federation Tower will grace the
skyline of Moscow’s new business centre,

Moscow City, and will be the tallest building
in Europe, as well as one of the world’s 

tallest buildings. From the hotel restaurant
at the top of the tower, diners will be able

to enjoy a unique view over the Russian
capital. The ideal temperature, fresh air and

required water pressure, even on the top
floor, will all be guaranteed by WILO pumps

and pump systems. 
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Pumps for Europe’s highest building

Just four kilometres from the Kremlin, on the Moskva river, lies

one of the world’s largest construction sites. By 2015 “Moskwa

Siti” (Moscow City) will sit on this 100 hectare site – a modern

international business centre with 15 high rise skyscrapers and

2.5 million square metres of offices, apartments, houses, hotels,

shops, cafes and restaurants, accommodating half a million

people – the aim is to give Manhattan a run for its money! 

Europe’s tallest tower 

One of the most spectacular buildings is the “Baschnja Federa-

zija” (Federation Tower), which will be taller than any building

in Europe when completed. The tower comprises two towers

of different heights connected by three bridges. The towers sit

on a joint podium at the base with four floors below ground

level and six floors above. Between the towers made of steel

and silvered glass is a vertical glass structure housing lifts

with panoramic views of the city. The Federation Tower

will be 448 metres tall, leaving all other European skyscra-

pers in the shade. It will be taller than the Empire State

Building in New York but slightly smaller than the world’s

highest building, currently towering 508 metres over Taipei. 

Vertical city behind glass

The towers’ facade is made from aluminium and silver-coloured

glass. The seemingly filigree exterior skin is, however, perfectly

equipped to withstand the harsh Moscow winters. The glass

has been reinforced to perform like other building elements

in terms of insulation and strength. According to its Russian

investors, the Mirax Group, this new revolution in construction

represents “power, unity and independence”. The skyscraper,

which stands on a footprint of 10,000 square metres and

which costs more than € 400 million to build, quickly rose

to its record height after the groundbreaking ceremony on

February 9, 2005. Just three days’ of construction work were

scheduled for each floor. The dual tower in the shape of two

peaked sails was designed by German associate architects

ASP Architekten Schweger Partner and NPS Tchoban Voss

Architekten. According to St. Petersburg-born architect Sergei

Tchoban the tapered silhouette, with its glass core and two

dynamic curved towers, reflects the character of the Russian

capital. The taller of the two towers is 354 metres high, has

93 floors and 212,000 square metres of floor space; the second

is 242 metres, has 62 floors and 113,000 square metres. 

At ground level, the visitor is greeted by an enormous atrium

with rooflight dome. The lower floors are intended mainly as

office spaces (roughly 181,000 square metres), consisting

of three to six units per floor. From about 180 metres above

ground, 200 luxury apartments (with an overall floor space

78,500 square metres) are planned. A large quantity of the

Federation Tower’s space has already been sold at astronomical

prices per square metre – estimates start at US$20,000. The

five-star hotel Grand Hyatt Moscow will sit on the 45th floor

and the tower canopies will house the hotel restaurant, bar,
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previous year's level, partly due to investments being brought

forward to 2006 in advance of the abolition of the first home

buyer allowance and the VAT increase. 

Growth in sales in the German building engineering services

sector, which includes the sanitation, heating, air-conditioning

and ventilation segments, was a mere 1.0 percent in 2007

according to the Association of the German Sanitary Industry.

Domestic sales actually declined by nearly 1 percent compared

with 2006, whereas exports were 8 percent higher.

Business developments at WILO

We were able to follow up the previous year's positive

development with growth in sales of 6.2 percent in 2007.

5.5 percentage points of this are accounted for by organic

growth and 0.7 percentage points by the pro-rata inclusion

of the companies acquired in 2006.

The most impressive growth of 21.2 percent was recorded in

Eastern Europe. In Western Europe, growth was moderate at

2.3 percent as a result of the weak boiler market. In Asia –

especially Korea – the year 2007 was associated with a process

of consolidation. Growth was extremely dynamic in the other

core Asian markets of China and India.

In Germany, our most important market, we were able to

sustain the high level of sales revenue at EUR 181.3 million

despite the problematic situation in the heating market. The

French market faced a similar problematic situation. We

achieved slight growth in sales of 1.6 percent to EUR 104.8

million there.

In 2007, our sales revenue in Korea declined by 17.5 percent

year on year to EUR 75.8 million, 6.5 percent of which is

accounted for by the devaluation of the Korean won against

the euro. Other factors of influence included the restructuring

of our distribution policy in Korea and the weak business

trend in our Korean markets.

The development of our business segments reflects the global

market development. Although sales revenues in the Heating

and Air-Conditioning segment only increased by 3.3 percent,

the Water and Sewage segment achieved disproportionately

high growth of 17.8 percent.

Results of operations

EBIT of EUR 99.4 million in 2007 almost matched the high level

of EBIT in 2006. The EBIT to sales ratio declined to 10.7 percent

compared with the previous year.

Despite further increases in raw material prices and investments

in extending our production capacity, the ratio of gross profit

to sales was 39.6 percent, which is on a par with the 2006 ratio.

Substantial investments in the development of specific markets

and high increases in new product development costs resulted

in a disproportionately high increase in sales, administration, re-

search & development costs, which depressed the EBIT margin.

EBIT was down by 2.6 percent to EUR 99.4 million compared

with the previous year. Earnings per share increased slightly

by 0.5 percent to EUR 6.15.

EUR million 2007 2006 Change

Western Europe 508.9 497.5 2.3%

Eastern Europe 221.7 182.9 21.2%

Asia 149.0 158.8 -6.2%

Other regions 47.7 34.2 39.4%

Total 927.3 873.4 6.2%

Regional development of net sales

Group structure

WILO AG is one of the world's leading manufacturers of pumps

and pumping systems for heating, ventilation and air-con-

ditioning technology, water supply, sewage disposal and waste-

water treatment. The company was founded in 1872 as the

copper and brass goods factory, Louis Opländer Maschinenbau.

WILO AG, which is headquartered in Dortmund, Germany, is the

WILO Group's parent company. All direct and indirect share-

holdings of WILO AG are listed in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements. The parent company has share capital

of EUR 26.0 million. At 31 December 2008, the WILO Group

consisted of 62 fully consolidated production and sales

enterprises operating in 42 countries in Europe, North and

South America and Asia. 

In 2007 we were able to further consolidate our position as

one of the leading international manufacturers of pumps and

pump systems. One aspect of this process was the scheduled

integration of CCD Pumps Ltd., London/United Kingdom and

Circulating Pumps Ltd., King’s Lynn/United Kingdom, in the

WILO Group organisation. 

Economic environment

The state of the world economy continued to improve in 2007.

Despite this positive development, defaults on US subprime

mortgages caused turbulences in the international financial

markets, exposing market players to higher economic risks at

the end of the year. Current forecasts indicate that economic

growth will continue to slow down in Germany and major parts

of the world economy.

In December 2007, leading German economic research insti-

tutes announced world economic growth of 5 percent after

adjustment for inflation in 2007. This positive development

was driven to a great extent by the flourishing Asian and

Eastern European economies where, according to economic

research institutes, growth in 2007 surpassed the 2006 rate.

The ifo institute forecast inflation-adjusted growth in

gross domestic product (GDP) of 11.3 percent in China and

7.5 percent in Russia in 2007.

By comparison, real GDP in euro zone countries declined slightly

by 0.1 percent to 2.7 percent and US GDP was 0.7 percent lower

than in 2006. The capital and property market crisis in the USA,

crude oil price increases and the weak US dollar have had a

greater impact on these economies than they have on emerging

market economies.

According to the Federal Statistical Office's January 2008

calculation, Germany realised 2.5 percent growth in GDP during

2007. Although this shows that German economic growth is

still healthy, it did lose some of its momentum over the course

of 2007. As in previous years, the ifo institute identified the

key growth drivers as foreign demand, which increased by

8 percent over 2006 and gross investments, which were

4.8 percent higher in 2007 than they were in 2006.

Although key industries for the WILO Group in the German

market (such as the construction and building services 

engineering sectors) continued to develop positively in 2007,

growth was markedly slower than it had been in 2006. The ifo

institute had forecast a 2.3 percent real increase in building

investments for 2007. In actual fact, the German construction

industry recorded 5.1 percent higher investments in industrial

construction projects and a 6.4 percent increase in public-

sector construction projects. There was stagnation in the

residential construction sector where growth remained at the



Significant foreign currency transactions were made in US

dollars and South Korean won. Both currencies faced a signi-

ficant devaluation in 2007. The euro rose by 6.5 percent against

the South Korean won and by an average of 9.2 percent against

the US dollar over the year. The devaluation of these two 

currencies had a negative impact on consolidated net income.

Consolidated net income after taxes declined by 0.2 percent

year on year to EUR 60.7 million. It constitutes 6.6 percent

(2006: 7.0 percent) of sales.

Financial situation

The WILO Group's total assets have increased by 2.7 percent

to EUR 639.3 million since 31 December 2006. Non-current

assets increased by 2.7 percent to EUR 233.9 million, and

current assets by 2.7 percent to EUR 405.4 million.

The increase in non-current assets is mainly due to the

EUR 12.7 million increase in fixed assets as compared with

31 December 2006. This development took place as a result of

the substantially higher investments in production equipment,

the extension of existing production facilities and sales offices

and, in particular, investments in the US sales and production

infrastructure. On the other hand, other financial assets

declined by EUR 7.0 million to EUR 4.7 million, predominantly

as a result of the consolidation of CCD Pumps Ltd., London/

United Kingdom.

Current trade accounts receivable increased proportionately

to sales by 7.2 percent to EUR 199.8 million. Inventories rose

by 13.8 percent to EUR 153.7 million. This disproportionately

high increase of inventories, considering the development of

sales, is mainly due to the introduction of new product series,

modifications to the logistics processes for some products

and the equipment of new sites in Canada and the USA. On

the reporting date, the WILO Group's net current assets were

14.4 percent higher than on 31 December 2006.

The decline in other current assets is mainly the result of a

EUR 34.0 million reduction in cash to EUR 25.3 million since

the previous reporting period. 

Equity again developed positively in 2007 with growth of

12.1 percent to EUR 297.7 million. The equity ratio increased to

46.6 percent of total assets (2006: 42.7 percent). Return on

capital employed (ROCE) was 25.3 percent (2006: 30.0 percent).
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Investments

Investments in intangible assets and fixed assets were 22.3

percent higher in 2007 than they were in 2006, increasing to

EUR 46.4 million. The main investments were made in extend-

ing production facilities and improving productivity, and in

the extension of the US production infrastructure.

Cash flow

In 2007, the cash flow from operating activities declined by

EUR 26.1 million to EUR 40.5 million. This development mainly

occurred as a result of the reduction of trade accounts payable

and other current liabilities from operating activities in con-

junction with a slight increase of inventories and trade

accounts receivable. 

The funds used for investment activities increased by 14.6

percent to EUR 42.7 million in 2007 because no corporate

acquisitions were made in 2007. On the other hand, invest-

ments in immaterial assets and fixed assets increased by 

EUR 8.4 million compared with the previous reporting period,

whereby investments in production equipment to increase

production capacity, improve productivity and optimise the

sales infrastructure took precedence. The only significant single

investment was the redesign of the entrance foyer at the

Dortmund property. It is reported under the item of "Payments

on account and tangible assets in course of construction".

The negative cash flow from financing activities of EUR 34.0

million in 2007 mainly resulted from the payment of EUR

22.1 million in dividends to WILO AG shareholders and interest

payments on loans of EUR 8.1 million. Compared with 2006,

the cash flow from financing activities declined by EUR 61.2

million as a result of taking out senior notes in the amount of

EUR 67.5 million (USD 80.0 million), leading to a positive cash

flow from financing activities or EUR 27.2 million. A detailed

explanation of the WILO Group's financing structure is provided

in notes (9.9) and (9.10).

2007 2006 Change

EBIT (EUR million) 99.4 102.1 -2.6%

EBIT (% of sales) 10.7 11.7 -8.3%

Earnings per share (EUR) 6.15 6.12 0.5%

Development of earnings

EUR million 2007 % 2006 %

Non-current assets 233.9 36.6 227.7 36.6

Inventories 153.7 24.0 135.0 21.7

Trade accounts receivable 199.8 31.3 186.3 29.9

Other current assets 51.9 8.1 73.3 11.8

Total assets 639.3 100.0 622.3 100.0

Assets as at 31 December

EUR million 2007 % 2006 %

Equity 297.7 46.6 265.5 42.7

Non-current liabilities 146.4 22.9 162.1 26.0

Current trade accounts payable 59.4 9.3 62.8 10.1

Other current liabilities 135.8 21.2 131.9 21.2

Total liabilities 639.3 100.0 622.3 100.0

Liabilities as at 31 December

EUR million 2007 2006 Change

Investments in fixed assets 43.0 36.8 17.0%

Investments in intangible assets 3.4 1.2 >100%

Total 46.4 38.0 22.3%

As a % of depreciation and 
amortisation on intangible assets
and fixed assets 171.3% 145.0%

Capital expenditure 
(not including investments in financial assets or goodwill)

EUR million 2007 2006 Change

Cash flow from 
operating activities 40.5 66.6 -39.1%

Cash flow from 
investment activities -42.7 -50.0 14.6%

Cash flow from  
financing activities -34.0 27.2 >-100%

Change in liquidity -36.2 43.8 >-100%

Cash flow
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Financial management

The objective of financial management is to sustain the WILO

Group's financial independence and to maintain an adequate

cash position at all times.

This is the reason why WILO AG always ensures that adequate

binding finance commitments from banks are in place. Pro-

active portfolio management with regard to the procurement

and terms of borrowings is an important aspect of the

company's financing policy, as are yield and investment

security objectives.

The WILO Group reported liabilities due to banks of EUR 89.6

million (2006: EUR 98.8 million) at 31 December 2007. These

mainly comprise senior notes amounting to EUR 54.4 million

(USD 80.0 million) which mature in 2013 and 2016 and are

subject to fixed rates of interest of 5.28 percent and 5.33

percent p.a. respectively. The senior notes were taken up 

within the scope of a US private placement (USPP) in 2006.

Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge the currency

risk. As things stand today, WILO AG assumes that the senior

note tranches can be paid out of the scheduled cashflow

from operating activities. WILO AG is not aware of whether

the subprime crisis in the USA will have any negative impacts

on the WILO Group's financing activities.

At 31 December 2007, current liabilities due to banks and in

respect of senior notes of EUR 26.7 million (2006: EUR 21.0

million) with a term of up to one year existed. The remainder

of the liabilities to banks of EUR 8.5 million (2006: EUR 15.2

million) have terms of between one and five years. Further

information about the financing structure is provided in notes

(9.9) and (9.10).

Research & development

In the Heating and Air-Conditioning segment, research and

development activities focused on the substantial extension

of our product range for the North American and Canadian

markets. WILO is the first provider of high-efficiency heating

and air-conditioning pumps in this market. In order to do this,

we had to make technical adaptations to the majority of our

Stratos high-efficiency pumps so that they satisfy the 

special requirements and acceptability standards in the USA

and Canada.

In the heating business, we have developed optimised products

for boiler operation which are smaller, lighter in weight and

easier to maintain.

We have also made another contribution to conserving energy

resources by optimising the technology of the majority of our

unregulated glandless pumps so that they qualify for energy

efficiency class B.

Our vertical multistage stainless steel pumps are used for many

different applications. This range is currently being completely

revised. The first installation size with peak efficiency was

launched in 2007. It has received the coveted quality label for

extremely energy-economical pumps in Korea.

In the Water and Sewage segment, our research and develop-

ment activities are focused on the development of new motors

for borehole and wastewater disposal pumps. Consistent

improvements to the cooling systems of various motor 

production series have improved their power density by up to

15 percent. We have assumed greater responsibility for the

environment by switching over from oil cooling to water 

cooling in all new developments.
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WILO's development of a heating system with small, decen-

tralised pumps on each heating appliance is a visionary

undertaking. The system includes the pumps, an electronic

controller and various components for room-specific heating

regulation. Not only does it contribute to a considerable

reduction of heating fuel requirements, it also increases

comfort in the home. In 2007 we continued and extended

the pilot tests on this system in different buildings. We are

currently preparing for the mass production of our decentral

heating pump system and its scheduled market launch at the

end of 2008. 

The WILO Group's total research and development expenditure

has increased by 14.4% since 2006, which is 3.0% of sales.

Employees

The WILO Group had an average of 5,821 employees in 2007.

This constitutes a year-on-year increase of 9.3 percent

because the Group compensated for regional fluctuation in

demand by building up its workforce. Part of the increase is

also due to the first-time consolidation of CCD Pumps Ltd.,

London/United Kingdom in 2007.

The average number of employees over the year was as follows:

Certifications & approvals

The ISO 9001:2000 and ISO 14001 quality and environmental

certifications that the WILO Group achieved in previous years

are still in place. 

In 2007, the WILO Group received product-specific UL 

approvals for the North American market.

Risk report

The WILO Group has a modern, integrated global risk manage-

ment system which enables the timely identification of 

corporate risks and the prompt initiation of effective counter-

measures. Monitoring the consistent implementation of

these measures is an integral aspect of the system.

When risks have been identified, they are assessed, controlled

as far as possible and then monitored. The internal auditing

department is very much involved in this process chain.

2007 2006 Change

In EUR million 27.6 24.1 14.4%

As a % of sales 3.0 2.8 7.8%

Expenditure on research and development

2007 2006

Production 3,063 2,689

Sales and administration 2,758 2,639

Total 5,821 5,328

Germany 1,871 1,738

Overseas 3,950 3,590

Total 5,821 5,328

Employees



36

Basically, WILO takes a decentralised approach to risk manage-

ment. The controlling team is supported by second-level

managers who are responsible for risk documentation and

reporting. Checklists and standard risk categories are used

for the assessment of risks and to ensure the comparability

of risk management practices. A suitable software program is

used as a communication and information platform.

The documented risks are assessed in terms of probability of

occurrence and potential impacts. Risk management enables

the WILO Group to ensure that the overall risk to the WILO

Group is transparent and maintained within acceptable limits.

Regular risk analysis reports are submitted to the manage-

ment board. The Supervisory Board and the audit committee

receive comprehensive information about the status and

development of the risk management system.

Risks & measures

Overall economic environment

WILO is exposed to economic and market risks which can occur

as a result of general economic, political or social influences.

Renowned economic research institutes and the International

Monetary Fund have issued positive forecasts, on the whole,

for the world economy in the foreseeable future. However, the

company is exposed to greater economic risks as a result of the

worldwide crisis on the international financial markets. WILO's

risk prevention measures also take the economic downswing

that some experts believe is possible into account. Country

risks are closely monitored so that prompt counter-measures

can be implemented whenever necessary. For example, some

of the big Asian and Eastern European markets offer very good

opportunities, though these are also associated with greater

risks. In these markets we have implemented organisational

measures, developed and optimised our local production

facilities and we take advantage of synergies in the WILO

Group to reduce risk exposure.

Competition

Our exposure to risk of competition has changed very little

since last year. The risk relates to increasing price competi-

tion in large-scale projects. We mainly counteract this risk

by getting in contact with the decision makers in our markets

at an early phase of the tendering process. We also make

reference to our technological lead over competitors, 

particularly when it comes to energy efficiency, continuous

product quality improvements and the extensive presence 

of our service networks.

The strong euro caused slight competitive disadvantages in

some regions against companies that have the majority of

their production operations in the USA or countries with dollar-

indexed exchange rates.

Production and technology

Value creation and technology risks are relatively manageable

as a result of the high market entry barriers and WILO's strong

market position. It reinforces this market position by making

continuous investments in the development of new products

and growth markets so that it is able to satisfy future customer

requirements and sustain a competitive advantage. In the year

under review, WILO invested 3.0 percent of consolidated net

income in research and development. The risk of quality

impairment is mitigated by a comprehensive quality manage-

ment programme which ensures uniform quality standards at

all WILO production sites.

The risk of production stoppages is considerably reduced by the

use of modern production equipment and professional control

systems. Supply bottlenecks are prevented mainly by ensuring

the availability of several suppliers. Suitable insurance policies

are concluded to reduce the economic consequences of

these corporate risks.

37

Currency translation rates

Exchange rates are an important management variable because

of our international presence. We are exposed to currency

risks as a result of our financing activities and our operating

activities. The currency risks from financing activities relate

to borrowings from external lenders in foreign currencies and

foreign currency loans which are taken up to finance Group

companies. The currency risks from operating activities pertain

mainly to intragroup transactions. Currency risks associated

with such transactions are countered by offsetting transactions

and the use of derivative financial instruments. The currency

risks associated with the operating activities of Group 

companies with external customers and suppliers are consid-

ered to be negligible because the majority of these trans-

actions are settled in local currency.

Interest rate development

Our exposure to interest risk is mainly due to variable 

borrowings which are subject to interest payments and cash

investments. Interest risks arise from an increase or decrease

in the interest curve. We use derivatives to hedge against

unexpected interest rate movements. There is no significant

exposure to interest risk since the majority of borrowings are

subject to long term fixed rates of interest.

Raw material prices

We are primarily exposed to a raw material price risk due to price

fluctuations on the world market for copper and aluminium

and copper and aluminium-based alloys. Commodity derivat-

ives are used to minimise this risk. The majority of the copper

and aluminium procurement volume for 2008 is collateralised.

Customer default

Customer default risks are counteracted with a standard and

effective Group-wide system for consistent debt management

and payment pattern monitoring. Dependency on individual

customers is limited because WILO does not generate more

than 10% of total net sales with any one customer. There is

no significant exposure to credit risks at the present time.

Liquidity

WILO AG attempts to ensure the cost-effective coverage of

financing requirements for Group company operating activities

at all times. It uses a range of capital market instruments for

this purpose. Cash pool and financing agreements also exist

with Group companies if they are admissible under local

commercial and tax laws and practical.

All Group-level financial transactions are recorded with a central

treasury software and monitored by WILO AG. This enables

risk sharing between the entities. A detailed explanation

of the WILO Group's use of derivatives is provided in notes

(12) and (13).
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Information technology

WILO performs daily back-ups of all critical business data to

counteract IT-related risks such as the loss of data or system

failure. The company database, which stores all the production,

materials management, order processing, accounting and

costing data, is a high-availability solution that satisfies the

highest security standards. The files that are used by

employees within the central server environment are also

backed up on a daily basis. System downtime is reduced to

the minimum by a dedicated in-house support team and

external service providers.

Overall assessment

Risks which may endanger the continuation of our business

operations are not evident today. 

Significant events after the balance sheet date

There have been no significant events after the balance

sheet date.

Outlook

Some of the German economic research institutes have forecast

slower world economic growth in 2008. An increasing number

of experts have also voiced concerns about the US economy

slipping into recession, which would have a negative impact

on other regions in the world. Some of the reasons for the

economic slowdown, which will affect the world's three 

largest economic regions of Western Europe, Asia and North

America in different degrees of intensity, are the property

and financial market crises in the USA and the persistently

high crude oil prices. 

Leading economic research institutes, the World Bank and

the International Monetary Fund (IMF) are expecting world

economic growth after adjustment for inflation of between

3.3 and 4.8 percent in 2008. According to the ifo institute,

real GDP growth will slow to 2.1 percent in industrial nations,

whereby growth in GDP of 2.0 percent is expected in the euro

zone and the USA. 

The economic trend scouts are also forecasting a decline in

economic growth in emerging markets, though it will remain

at a high level. Growth of 9.5 percent is expected in China. 

In 2008, Eastern European economies will see growth of

between 5.5 and 6.5 percent.

The German government has revised its real GDP forecast for

Germany in 2008 from 2.9 to 1.7 percent as a result of the

economic slowdown. The economic research institutes'

model calculations predict growth in real GDP of between 

1.7 and 2.1 percent.
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The ifo institute is expecting moderate growth for the German

construction sector of 1.8 percent in 2008. The institute's

economic research experts have forecast an 0.5 percent

increase in investments in the residential construction sector

compared with zero growth in 2007. There will be 3.9 percent

growth of investments in the industrial construction sector

and 2.7 percent growth in the public construction sector,

both of which are lower than the 2007 figures. 

The building services engineering sector – one of the WILO

Group's most important markets – will see 2.0 percent growth

in 2008 according to the Association of the German Sanitary

Industry. As in previous years, foreign demand will be one of

the main drivers of growth in sales.

The WILO Group is well positioned to profit from this economic

growth. It is also prepared for the possibility of an economic

slowdown. Our longstanding innovation-oriented business

policy has provided us with a solid basis for growth and for

establishing an international market presence. We will continue

to pursue this policy in 2008. It involves the further consolida-

tion of our systems and applications know-how so that we can

optimise the energy consumption and functional performance

of our products. We will also be developing our pioneering

range of decentralised pumps to market launch stage.

The WILO Group is expecting to cross the one billion net sales

threshold in 2008, which would be an increase of around 

8 percent. Growth in sales will mainly be generated in Western

and Eastern Europe and Asia. We are expecting an around 

6 percent increase in sales revenues in our Heating and Air-

Conditioning segment. The Water and Sewage segment 

operates in a growth market and we are assuming 12 percent

growth in sales. We are also expecting an almost 8 percent

increase in 2009.

Unlike sales, we believe that EBIT will decline slightly during

2008 and that the EBIT margin will be lower. The reasons for

the lower EBIT margin and EBIT will be the disproportionate

increase in selling expenses in growth markets and higher new

product development costs. We are expecting higher EBIT and

a higher EBIT margin in 2009, compared with 2008, as a result

of the disproportionately low increase in administrative, sales

and development costs.

Unforeseeable developments and events may lead to changes

in expectations and deviations from forecasts.
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007

EUR '000 Note 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Non-current assets

Intangible assets (9.1) 60,721 59,177

Property, plant and equipment (9.2) 146,809 134,081

Investments stated at equity (9.4) 855 2,038

Other financial assets (9.4) 4,722 11,677

Trade accounts receivable (9.6) 3,455 173

Other assets (9.6) 1,332 1,901

Deferred tax assets (8.10) 15,982 18,628

233,876 227,675

Current assets

Inventories (9.5) 153,663 135,001

Trade accounts receivable (9.6) 199,830 186,349

Other assets (9.6) 26,655 13,968

Cash and cash equivalents (9.7) 25,298 59,332

405,446 394,650

Assets 639,322 622,325

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Assets

EUR '000 Note 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Equity (9.8)

Share capital 26,000 26,000

Retained earnings 284,772 247,084

Currency translation difference -7,495 -3,649

Treasury stock -7,892 -5,533

Equity before minority interest 295,385 263,902

Minority interest 2,305 1,609

297,690 265,511

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks (9.9) 62,913 77,772

Trade accounts payable (9.9) 5,299 3,257

Other liabilities (9.9) 14,253 14,328

Provisions for pensions (9.9) 35,513 36,889

Provisions for similar obligations (9.9) 6,810 6,517

Guarantee provision (9.9) 3,694 3,815

Deferred tax liabilities (8.10) 17,906 19,508

146,388 162,086

Current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks (9.10) 26,656 21,020

Trade accounts payable (9.10) 59,419 62,790

Other liabilities (9.10) 67,575 77,557

Provisions (9.10) 41,594 33,361

195,244 194,728

Liabilities 639,322 622,325

Liabilities
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Consolidated income statement 
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2007

Statement of recognised income and expenses 
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2007

EUR '000 Note 2007 2006

Net sales (8.1) 927,349 873,408

Costs of sales (8.2) -559,945 -526,473

Gross profit 367,404 346,935

Selling expenses (8.3) -184,400 -172,297

Administrative expenses (8.4) -57,857 -53,615

Research and development costs (8.5) -27,554 -24,081

Other operating income (8.6) 16,224 18,078

Other operating expenses (8.7) -14,424 -12,928

EBIT (8.11) 99,393 102,092

Result from investments stated at equity (8.8) -1,036 -680

Financial result (8.9) -3,822 -4,989

Consolidated net income before taxes (8.11) 94,535 96,423

Income taxes (8.10) -33,789 -35,550

Consolidated net income after taxes (8.11) 60,746 60,873

thereof due to minority interests 769 826

thereof due to shareholders of WILO AG 59,977 60,047

The undiluted and diluted earnings per share
are EUR 6.15 (2006: EUR 6.12). (8.12)

Consolidated income statement

EUR '000 2007 2006

Foreign currency translation adjustment -3,919 -2,606

Total income and expenses recognised in equity -3,919 -2,606

Consolidated net income after taxes 60,746 60,873

Total recognised income and expenses 56,827 58,267

thereof attributable to minority interests 696 826

thereof attributable to shareholders of WILO AG 57,131 57,441

Statement of recognised income and expenses

EUR '000 2007 2006 Change

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 99,393 102,092 -2,699

Depreciation on/additions to intangible and fixed assets (net) 29,086 27,614 1,472

Increase/decrease in long-term provisions -1,204 302 -1,506

Gains on the disposal of intangible and fixed assets (net) -496 -5 -491

Increase of inventories -18,471 -20,465 1,994

Increase in trade accounts receivable and other assets that cannot
be allocated to investing or financing activities -21,787 -16,400 -5,387

Increase/decrease in current provisions 5,687 -1,690 7,377

Increase/decrease in payments on account 1,030 -209 1,239

Increase/decrease in trade accounts payable and other liabilities that cannot 
be allocated to investing or financing activities -15,753 5,120 -20,873

Other non-monetary cash flows (net) -1,750 -1,705 -45

Cash flows from operating activities 75,735 94,654 -18,919

Income taxes paid -35,275 -28,102 -7,173

Net cash flows from operating activities 40,460 66,552 -26,092

Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets 0 8 -8

Payments to acquire intangible assets -3,386 -1,185 -2,201

Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 3,695 2,918 777

Payments to acquire fixed assets -43,016 -36,756 -6,260

Proceeds from capital repayments and disposals of financial assets 1,466 719 747

Payments to acquire financial assets -1,043 -7,972 6,929

Payments to acquire consolidated entities and subsequent 
purchase price obligations -420 -7,733 7,313

Cashflow used for investing activities -42,704 -50,001 7,297

Dividends paid to shareholders -22,122 -18,747 -3,375

Proceeds from the issuance of financial loans 5,636 67,500 -61,864

Payments for the repayment of borrowings -8,352 -14,240 5,888

Payments for the acquisition of treasury stock -2,945 -8,205 5,260

Proceeds from disposals of treasury stock 128 3,978 -3,850

Interest receipts 1,672 1,916 -244

Interest payments -8,059 -5,059 -3,000

Dividend receipts 55 55 0

Cash flows relating to financing activities -33,987 27,198 -61,185

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -36,231 43,749 -79,980

Foreign currency rate and consolidation-related change in cash and cash equivalents 2,197 -555 2,752

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 59,332 16,138 43,194

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 25,298 59,332 -34,034

Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2007

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Segment report

Western Europe Eastern Europe
in EUR '000 2007 2006 2007 2006

External net sales 508,867 497,458 221,695 182,872

Inter-segment sales 136,359 121,290 - -

EBIT 59,989 59,553 36,383 34,781

Depreciation and amortisation 
on intangible and tangible assets 16,522 15,995 5,659 5,375

Other non-cash items 21,265 18,013 1,924 1,213

Result from investments stated at equity - - - -

Financial result - - - -

Income taxes - - - -

Consolidated net income after taxes - - - -

Assets 398,093 407,182 80,188 70,317

thereof investments stated at equity - - - -

Liabilities 182,694 187,527 12,801 10,773

Investments in intangible and
tangible assets 34,418 23,769 3,653 3,761

Primary reporting format: by geographical region

Asia Other regions Total
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

149,024 158,841 47,763 34,237 927,349 873,408

3,778 2,381 - - 140,137 123,671

10,897 11,470 -7,876 -3,712 99,393 102,092

3,690 3,748 1,199 1,021 27,070 26,139

6,887 7,295 515 432 30,591 26,953

- - -1,036 -680 -1,036 -680

- - - - -3,822 -4,989

- - - - -33,789 -35,550

- - - - 60,746 60,873

113,535 105,937 31,524 20,261 623,340 603,697

- - 855 2,038 855 2,038

28,480 30,361 2,376 4,593 226,351 233,254

4,146 7,437 4,182 2,971 46,399 37,938

Primary reporting format: by geographical region

Heating & air-conditioning Water & sewage
EUR '000 2007 2006 2007 2006

External net sales 545,835 528,395 357,180 303,253

Assets* 295,896 273,306 261,484 216,187

Investments* 29,748 22,709 16,508 15,125

*In the year under review, all corporate assets were allocated to the segments. Last year, they were all reported under central services and not allocated to
segments. All investments in corporate assets were accordingly allocated to the segments and not, as in the previous year, reported under other business
segments. The figures for the previous year have been adjusted accordingly. 

Segment reporting disclosures can be found in section (11.) of the notes.

Secondary reporting format: by business segment

Others Total
2007 2006 2007 2006

24,334 41,760 927,349 873,408

16,721 25,524 574,101 515,017

143 104 46,399 37,938

Secondary reporting format: by business segment
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the 2007 financial year

(1.) General information

WILO AG (the "Company"), which is based in Dortmund,

Germany, is the WILO Group's holding company. The Group's

core business operations are the production and world-wide

sales of machines, in particular liquid pumps and appliances.

The WILO Group develops, manufactures and markets pumps

and building technology systems, in particular for heating,

refrigeration, air-conditioning and ventilation systems, for

water supply and for sewage and effluent disposal. 

(2.) Principles underlying the consolidated financial 

statements

The consolidated financial statements of WILO AG at 

31 December 2007 were prepared in accordance with the

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which are

now mandatory for companies in the European Union. The

2007 consolidated financial statements also take into account

all applicable interpretations of the International Financial

Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). WILO AG applies

the option provided for in section 315a, paragraph 3 of the

German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) and is

therefore not required to prepare consolidated financial

statements pursuant to German commercial law. To ensure

equivalence with consolidated financial statements prepared

in accordance with German commercial law, the disclosure

requirements of section 315a, paragraph 1 of the German

Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) are met in 

addition to the IFRS disclosure requirements. The IFRS and

the amended IAS standards which were still effective on the

reporting date have been applied in the consolidated financial

statements. The consolidated financial statements are, without

exception, compliant with IFRS and provide an accurate account

of the Group's financial position.

In order to improve the transparency of the statements, several

items on the income statement and balance sheet have been

combined. These items are shown and explained separately

in the notes. The income statement was prepared using the

cost of sales method.

All amounts are stated in thousands of euro (EUR thousand)

unless otherwise indicated. The annual financial statements

of subsidiaries outside the European Monetary Union were

translated from the national currency into euro.

(3.) Application of amended or new standards

The following standards and amendments to existing standards

which became effective for the first time in their current form

on 1 January 2007 have the following impact on WILO AG's

consolidated financial statements for 2007.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

The IASB published IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures in

August 2005. This standard prescribes the disclosures relating

to financial instruments that were previously regulated by IAS

30 Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar

Financial Institutions and IAS 32 Financial Instruments:

Disclosure and Presentation. The disclosure checklist has

been amended and supplemented. The adoption of IFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures has resulted in additional

disclosures in the notes to the annual financial statements of

WILO AG for the 2007 financial year in respect of financial

assets, financial liabilities and risk management.
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Amendment of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:

Capital Disclosures 

The IASB published an amendment to IAS 1 in August 2005.

This amendment introduces requirements for disclosures which

enable users of the financial statements to make informed

judgements with regard to capital management objectives,

policies and processes. WILO AG's adoption of the amended

IAS 1 in 2007 has resulted in additional disclosures on equity

in the notes to the WILO AG consolidated financial statements

for 2007. Income and expenses which are recognised directly in

equity are reported separately in the "Statement of recognised

income and expenses". Consolidated net income after taxes

is reclassified into income and expenses in the year under

review for minority interests and WILO AG shareholders. The

Company has decided to include this statement as a separate

component of the consolidated financial statements and to

integrate the consolidated statement of changes in equity in

the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The following interpretations which became effective for the

first time in their current form on 1 January 2007 do not have

any impact on WILO AG's consolidated financial statements

for 2007.

• IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperflationary Economies

• IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

• IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

• IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards, amend-

ments to existing standards and interpretations in 2007 which

are not yet effective or are not yet applicable in the EU. WILO

AG is not currently planning to apply these standards before

they become effective.

• Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

• Amendment of IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments 

• IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

• IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

• IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

Only the standards and amendments to existing standards

which may have an impact on the consolidated financial

statements of WILO AG are detailed below.
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Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

In September 2007 the IASB published another revised version

of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. The main

changes in the revised IAS 1 pertain to the presentation of

changes in equity arising from transactions with owners 

(i.e. owner changes in equity) separately from non-owner

changes in equity and the presentation of total recognised

income and expense and other comprehensive income in the

consolidated financial statements. The revised IAS 1 applies

to the financial statements for periods beginning on or after

1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. The impact

of the application of the revised IAS 1 on the WILO Group's

consolidated financial statements is currently being assessed.

Amendment of IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

The IASB issued a revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs in March

2007. The main change from the previous version of IAS 23 

is the removal of the option of immediately recognising 

borrowing costs relating to the acquisition, development or

production of qualifying assets as an expense. Qualifying

assets are assets which take a substantial period of time to

get ready for use or sale. The revised IAS 23 does not require

the capitalisation of borrowing costs for assets which are

measured at fair value or inventories that are manufactured

or produced in large quantities on a repetitive basis. The revised

standard applies to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets

for which the commencement date for capitalisation is on or

after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted. The impact

of the application of the revised IAS 23 on the WILO Group's

consolidated financial statements is currently being assessed.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 

The IASB issued IFRS 8 Operating Segments in November 2006

to replace IAS 14 Segment Reporting. IFRS 8 requires the

entity to adopt the ‘management approach’ to reporting on

the financial performance of operating segments that are

subject to disclosure requirements. Operating segments are

components of an organisation which deliver separate 

information on financial performance that is regularly assessed

by the operating division's management to evaluate segment

performance and decide how to allocate resources. Generally,

the financial information to be reported would be what the

management uses internally for evaluating segment perfor-

mance and for decisions on allocating resources to operating

segments. IFRS 8 is mandatory for annual periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2009. Earlier application is permitted.

The impact of the application of IFRS 8 on the WILO Group's

consolidated financial statements is currently being assessed.

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

In July 2007, the IFRIC issued IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a

Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and

their Interaction, a general guideline on determining the limit

placed by IAS 19 on the amount of a surplus in a pension plan

that can be recognised as an asset. IFRIC 14 also explains how

statutory or contractual minimum funding requirements can

affect a pension plan's assets or liabilities. IFRIC 14 is mandatory

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. Earlier

application is permitted. The impact of the application of

IFRIC 14 on the WILO Group's consolidated financial statements

is currently being assessed.
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(4.) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include WILO AG and all

significant entities which are subject to the direct or indirect

control of WILO AG. The balance sheets and the income

statements of these entities were included in the consolidated

financial statements pursuant to IAS 27. 

In addition to WILO AG, the consolidated financial statements

at 31 December 2007 include 6 German entities (2006: 6)

and 56 foreign entities (2006: 55) in which WILO AG directly

or indirectly holds the majority of voting rights. One subsi-

diary (2006: 4) is not included in the consolidated financial

statements. 

The basis of consolidation has changed since last year as 

follows: 

• First-time consolidation

100% of the shares in CCD Pumps Ltd., London/United

Kingdom were acquired at the end of 2006 and it was 

consolidated on 1 January 2007.

The above first-time consolidation has increased group net

sales by EUR 5,739 thousand and reduced consolidated net

income by EUR 44 thousand. The change to the basis of 

consolidation has had the following impact on the consolidated

balance sheet:

In 2007, the carrying amounts which were determined pursuant

to IFRS immediately prior to the acquisition corresponded to the

amounts recognised at the time of the acquisition. No hidden

assets or liabilities were identified in the revaluation process.

No companies were acquired in the year under review. In 

the prior year, the total cost of acquisitions and subsequent

purchase price obligations was EUR 16,023 thousand. This

amount includes transaction costs of EUR 482 thousand. 

The goodwill pursuant to IFRS ensuing from the consolidation

of CCD Pumps Ltd., London/United Kingdom in 2007 amounted

to EUR 3,791 thousand. It comprises the difference between

the consideration paid of EUR 6,144 thousand and the net

fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in CCD

Pumps Ltd., London/United Kingdom, which was EUR 2,353

thousand at the time of acquisition. CCD Pumps Ltd., London/

United Kingdom, was purchased at the end of 2006 to facilitate

the extension of the service network in the United Kingdom.

As the result of a subsequent adjustment of performance-

related purchase price components agreed in connection

with the acquisition of Circulating Pumps Ltd., King’s Lynn/

United Kingdom in 2006, the goodwill ensuing from this merger

declined by EUR 602 thousand in 2007.

EUR '000

Property, plant and equipment 141

Accounts receivable and other 
current assets 1,895

Cash 2,790

Total 4,826

Assets

EUR '000

Equity 2,353

Current provisions and liabilities 2,473

Total 4,826

Liabilities



50

The associated company EMU I.D.F. S.A.R.L., Ste. Geneviève-

des-Bois/France, was reported in the balance sheet at amort-

ised cost in 2007. 

The liquidation of the non-consolidated company, POMPES

SALMSON (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd, Singapore, 100% of whose shares

were held by the WILO Group, was concluded in 2007. 

A list of all WILO AG's direct and indirect shareholdings is

provided on pages 92 and 93 of the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

(5.) Consolidation methods

Business combinations are reported in the balance sheet

according to the purchase method as per IFRS 3 and all hidden

assets and liabilities are disclosed. The assets, liabilities and

contingent liabilities of the acquired entity are identified in

accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 at their fair value at the

time of acquisition and compared with the cost of acquisition.

Shares in the fair values of assets and liabilities which are not

acquired are disclosed as minority interests. The amount by

which the consideration paid exceeds the net fair value of

assets acquired and liabilities assumed after reassessment is

capitalised as goodwill and subsequently subjected to a regular

annual impairment test of the cash-generating units to which

the goodwill is allocated. If the value of equity acquired exceeds

the costs incurred by the acquiring company, the difference is

stated as net profit for the period after a reassessment.

Shares in jointly controlled entities are reported according to

the equity method pursuant to IAS 31. 

Intragroup sales, income and expenses, receivables and 

liabilities and contingent liabilities are eliminated. The assets

in the inventory relating to intragroup transactions are adjusted

to eliminate inter-company results. The impact of consolidation

transactions reported in the income statement on income tax

are taken into account and the corresponding deferred taxes

are recognised.

(6.) Currency translation

Foreign currency transactions in the financial statements of

WILO AG and those of the consolidated subsidiaries are

translated into the functional currency at the effective rate

on the transaction date. Monetary assets and foreign currency

debts are translated at the average rate on the reporting date,

whereby exchange gains and losses are recognised in the

income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities which

are measured at historical cost are translated at the effective

rate on the transaction date. When non-monetary items are

measured at fair value, the rate effective on the date of 

measurement is used.

The items reported in the financial statements of each con-

solidated entity are measured in the currency of the entity's

primary economic environment (functional currency). Financial

statements prepared in functional currency (other than euro)

are translated to euro. The euro is the reporting currency for

the consolidated financial statements. All assets and liabilities

are translated at the effective rate on the reporting date,

and the income statement items are translated at the annual

average rates closest to the transaction rates for inclusion in

the consolidated financial statements. The differences resulting

from currency translation are recognised directly in equity

as a special item without impact on profit or loss until the

subsidiary is disposed of.

In 2007, high inflation adjustments pursuant to IAS 29 were

not necessary because the WILO Group does not operate any

subsidiaries in high inflation economies.
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(7.) Accounting and valuation methods

The financial statements of WILO AG, its domestic and foreign

subsidiaries were prepared in accordance with standard

accounting and valuation rules in conformity with IAS 27. A

current/non-current classification is made in the balance sheet.

An asset or liability is classified as current if it is expected to

be realised within 12 months of the reporting date. 

Assumptions and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in

conformity with the IASB standards requires the management

to make assumptions and estimates that affect reported

amounts and related disclosures of assets and liabilities,

income and expenses and contingent liabilities that are

reported in the balance sheet. The majority of assumptions

and estimates relate to the assessment of standard useful

lives for Group assets and the measurement and reporting

procedure for provisions, particularly the provisions for pensions

and similar obligations, goodwill and guarantee reserves, and

regarding the extent to which future tax relief options can be

utilised. The underlying assumptions and estimates, and the

carrying amounts, are explained in the relevant sections of the

notes. In some cases, the actual values can diverge from the

assumptions and estimates made. Deviations from assumptions

and estimates are recognised in the income statement at the

time when they are identified. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared according

to the historic cost accounting method with the exception of

derivative financial instruments and available-for-sale financial

instruments, which are measured at fair value. The accounting

and valuation principles used in the preparation of these 

consolidated financial statements are detailed below.

Expenditure and revenue recognition

Net sales are only recognised when the service has been 

performed or the goods or products have been delivered. Net

sales are reported after the deduction of discounts, price

reductions, customer bonuses and rebates. Cost of sales

includes all unit and overhead costs, as well as depreciation

on production machines, that directly contribute to the

generation of revenue. This item also includes costs associated

with the allocation of funds to reserves for warranty claims.

Operating costs are recognised in the income statement when

the service is rendered or when they are incurred. Interest

income and interest expenses are reported in accordance

with the accrual principle.

Currency translation was made at the following rates:

Pound sterling GBP 0.6873 0.6819 0.7346 0.6714

Chinese renminbi (yuan) CNY 10.4424 10.0499 10.7400 10.2915

Indian rupee INR 56.6800 57.2208 57.9500 58.3200

South Korean won KRW 1,278.7494 1,200.4167 1,377.0000 1,226.0000

Russian rouble RUB 34.8396 33.9833 35.9950 34.2400

Turkish lira TRY 1.7826 1.8171 1.7135 1.8775

US dollar USD 1.3790 1.2631 1.4716 1.3181

Currency translation rates

Annual average rate Rate on 31 December
1 EUR = 2007 2006 2007 2006
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Administrative costs and selling expenses 

The administrative costs and selling expenses pertain to

attributable personnel expenses and material costs, as well as

the depreciation applicable to each functional area.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs are reported separately 

within the income statement. The recognition criteria for the

capitalisation of development costs in accordance with IAS

38 were not met in 2007 and 2006.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are not capitalised.

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets with definite useful lives are capit-

alised at cost of acquisition and amortised on a straight-line

basis in accordance with their useful lives (3 to 5 years in the

WILO Group). Amortisation was allocated to the relevant

functional areas in the period under review.

Goodwill and acquired intangible assets with indefinite useful

lives are not subjected to scheduled amortisation pursuant to

IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36, but to impairment tests

which are performed annually and if an indication of impairment

exists. If the impairment test indicates that impairment exists,

goodwill and the acquired intangible asset with indefinite

useful life are written down and the impairment is reported

under other operating expenses.

Leases

If a lease can be classified as a finance lease pursuant to IAS

17, the leased asset is capitalised at the lower of its fair value

and the present value of future minimum lease payments and

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the

lease term and the asset's useful life. At inception, the finance

lease is recognised in the balance sheet pursuant to IAS 17 as

an asset and a liability.

The main finance lease agreements exist in respect of three

factory buildings. Lease agreements have also been concluded

in respect of IT equipment. The leased assets will be returned

to the lessor when the basic term of the lease expires. 

If consolidated companies are lessees on an operating lease

basis, the lease or rental payments are directly recognised as

expense in the income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Tangible assets that are used in business operations for longer

than one year are measured at historical cost less scheduled

straight-line depreciation. Historical cost comprises the actual

purchase price plus all directly attributable costs incurred in

getting the fixed asset in a condition for use. The underlying

useful lives reflect customary asset depreciation. Buildings

have useful lives of between 10 and 60 years. Buildings and

installations on external sites are depreciated on the basis of

the lower of lease term and useful life. The useful life of

technical equipment and machines is up to 14 years. Fixtures

and fittings, tools and equipment which are used to a normal

degree are depreciated over 3 to 13 years. The component

approach is used to report significant assets in the balance

sheet subject to the requirements of IAS 16 being met.

Depreciation is allocated to the relevant functional areas in

the period under review.

Impairment of assets 

An impairment test is performed at each reporting date to

assess whether an asset is impaired. Assets that are subject

to scheduled depreciation are also impairment tested if there

are indications that the carrying amount (net book value) is

higher than the recoverable amount. The asset's recoverable

amount is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and

value in use. 
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Goodwill is subjected to an impairment test if there are indica-

tions that impairment exists. The impairment test for this asset

class is performed at least once a year. In the impairment test,

the recoverable amount of the cash generating units is estab-

lished on the basis of the higher of fair value less cost to sell

and value in use. In this process, the fair value reflects the best

estimate of the amount for which an independent third party

would purchase the CGUs. Value in use is the present value of

the estimated future cash flow which can be expected in

connection with the CGU's continued use. Fair value less cost

to sell is calculated using the discounted cash flow method

on the basis of approved plans with a mid-term horizon of

three years. An appropriate, unit-specific growth factor is taken

into account. These plans are based on past experience and

projected market development. The WILO Group's Product

Business Units (PBU), which represent the segments of

Heating and Air-Conditioning, Water and Sewage, are divided

into product groups and form the cash-generating units. For

impairment test purposes, goodwill and all other assets are

assigned to cash-generating units and compared with the

recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating unit. If the

recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount of the

goodwill and all other assets allocated to the cash-generating

unit, impairment exists which has to be recognised in the

income statement. Impairments initially reduce the goodwill

allocated to the cash-generating unit and are then distributed

on a pro rata basis among the other assets. They are reported

under the item of other operating expenses in the income

statement. 

The discount rate which is applied in the annual impairment

test was developed on the basis of market data. In 2007, the

discount rate applied to the cash-generating units was 8.2%

after tax (2006: 7.7%). The unit-specific growth factor remains

unchanged at up to 1.1%.

Investments stated at equity

Investments in jointly controlled entities are measured using

the equity method of accounting and reported under "Invest-

ments stated at equity" in the balance sheet. The proportionate

consolidation method is not applied.

Other investments

Shareholdings in non-consolidated entities reported as other

financial assets are measured at fair value if this can be reliably

determined. Otherwise, these shareholdings are measured at

cost of acquisition. If the impairment test reveals additional

write-down requirements, these are recognised in the income

statement. Investments in associates are not stated at equity

but at amortised cost, unless the fair value deviates from this. 

The loans reported under other financial assets are loans and

receivables which are recognised at amortised cost pursuant

to IAS 39 using the effective interest method. 

Financial assets

Financial assets are capitalised at cost of acquisition on the

settlement date, which is the date on which the asset came

into being or was transferred. Subsequent measurements

pursuant to IAS 39 differentiate between loans and receivables,

held-to-maturity and available-for-sale financial assets and

financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through

profit and loss. The latter category consists exclusively of

held-for-trading financial assets at the WILO Group. 

Receivables or loans and held-to-maturity financial assets

are reported at the lower of amortised costs and recoverable

amount using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale

financial assets are reported at fair value (market value) if this

can be reliably determined in an active market. Otherwise, they

are measured at amortised cost. Held-for-trading assets are

reported at fair value (market value). 
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The gains and losses ensuing from changes in fair value of held-

for-trading financial assets are recognised in the income

statement in the period in which they occur. Unrealised gains

and losses ensuing from changes in the fair value of available-

for-sale financial assets are transferred to the reserves and

recognised in equity. If available-for-sale financial assets are

disposed of or impaired, the cumulative fair value adjustments

in the reserves are recognised as gains or losses from financial

assets in the income statement. The WILO Group does not have

any held-to-maturity financial assets. It only has a negligible

number of available-for-sale financial assets.

The WILO Group's financial assets consist of shares in affiliated

entities and associates, available-for-sale securities, other

loans, trade receivables, other assets (including derivative

financial instruments) and cash and cash equivalents.

Inventories

Raw materials, supplies and goods are measured at cost, taking

the net realisable values into account. Costs are calculated

using the weighted average cost method.

Work in progress and finished goods are recognised at cost of

sales. This includes all costs which are directly attributable to

the manufacturing process and an appropriate portion of

production-related overheads. Production-related depreciation,

pro-rata administration costs and pro-rata social security costs

are also reported under this item. Cost of sales does not include

interest on borrowings. Adjustments are made in respect of

raw materials and supplies, goods and products with quality

and functional defects, as well as for sales risks.

The valuation on the reporting date is made at the lower of

acquisition or manufacturing cost, on the one hand, and current

market price less expected sale proceeds, on the other. 

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are reported in the balance sheet

according to the percentage of completion (POC) method

pursuant to IAS 11. The percentage of completion to be

applied is calculated using the cost-to-cost method. When

the percentage of completion has been ascertained, the 

proportion of realised sales attributable to these contracts in

progress is calculated on the basis of their completion status.

If the advances received exceed the attributable revenue a

POC liability exists. If the advances received are less than the

attributable revenue a POC receivable exists. 

All risks associated with construction contracts are taken

into account in the measurement of construction contracts 

in progress.

Accounts receivable and other assets

Current assets comprise trade accounts receivable, other

receivables and other assets and cash (cheques, cash on deposit

in banking accounts and cash on hand). All financial assets are

initially recognised at cost on the settlement date, i.e. when

the receivable comes into existence or ownership is transferred.

Trade accounts receivable and other assets are reported in

the balance sheet at amortised cost. Write downs in the form

of specific provisions for bad debt and flat-rate bad debt

provisions adequately take the risk of default into account.

Specific provisions for bad debt are formed on the basis of

the information available at the reporting date. Specific bad

debt provisions are formed in an appropriate amount if debtors

are involved in lawsuits, collection or insolvency proceedings,

if payments are overdue, if complaints are being processed, if

third-party guarantees or deviating payment agreements exist

and in connection with all other events and information which

indicate the possibilitiy of default on payment obligations in

respect of trade receivables and other receivables. Flat-rate

bad debt provisions are formed on the basis of past experience
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in respect of the debtors' general credit risk and country risk.

Specific and flat-rate provisions for bad debts are reported

separately in value adjustment accounts. Objective default

leads to the elimination of the receivable from the accounts. 

Receivables and other assets with a term of more than 12

months are discounted to present value if the discount is

substantial and reported under non-current assets.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments ("derivatives") are used within

the WILO Group for interest rate, currency and market risk

hedging purposes. However, 'hedge accounting' according to

IFRS is not applied. Pursuant to IAS 39, all financial derivatives

are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost and sub-

sequently measured at fair value on the trade date according

to active market prices. Changes to fair value are recognised

in the income statement. Derivatives with a positive fair value

are reported as other assets and derivatives with a negative

fair value are reported as other liabilities.

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are formed

pursuant to IAS 12 in respect of all temporary differences

between the carrying amount of an asset or liability according

to IFRS and its tax base. Deferred tax assets also include tax

reduction claims ensuing from the expected utilisation of

existing loss carryforwards in subsequent years, provided that

the utilisation of these loss carryforwards is guaranteed with

sufficient certainty. Deferred tax assets are subjected to an

impairment test on the reporting date. Deferred taxes are

measured on the basis of the rates that apply under current

national legislation or are expected to apply when the asset is

realised or the liability is settled. The consequences of profit

distribution on taxation are not recognised until the profit

appropriation proposal has been endorsed. Deferred tax assets

are only offset against deferred tax liabilities if they relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and if they

have matching terms. The reasons for the deferred taxes at

31 December 2007 are specified in note [8.10]. 

Government grants

In accordance with IAS 20, a government grant is only recog-

nised if there is reasonable assurance of compliance with the

conditions attached to it and that the grant will be received.

The WILO Group receives research grants and investment

subsidies which are recognised in the income statement when

they become receivable. Investment subsidies are recognised

as deferred income and amortised over the useful life of the

subsidised asset. 

Equity 

Treasury stock is measured at cost and reported under a

separate item as a deduction from equity. 

Provisions for pensions

Defined benefit plans 

Provisions are formed in respect of contingent liabilities for

pension obligations. According to IAS 19, the pension provisions

for benefit obligations are determined using the internationally

recognised projected unit credit method. These calculations

are based on relevant reports and take biometric parameters

into account. Actuarial gains and losses which exceed 10.0%

of the greater of the defined benefit obligation or the fair

value of plan assets are recognised according to the corridor

method. When recognition is necessary, the amount recognised

is amortised over the remaining working lives of the particip-

ating employees. Expenses arising from the endowment of

pension provisions, with the exception of the interest portion

reported in the financial result, are allocated to the relevant

functional areas.
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The defined benefit obligation is determined on the basis of

actuarial methods which are essential for the measurement

of projected benefits. The benefit obligations are calculated

on the basis of the following parameters:

An estimated return rate for plan assets of 3.0% (2006: 5.0%)

is expected, based on historic data.

The actuarial present value of pension obligations calculated

using the projected unit credit method is reduced by the fair

value of plan assets, provided that the criteria specified in 

IAS 19 for plan assets are met.

Defined contribution plans

The obligation in respect of defined contribution plans is 

oriented on the contributions to be paid in respect of the

period under review.

Other provisions

The provisions for taxes include provisions for current income

tax liabilities. According to IAS 37, the provisions are formed if

a past event gives rise to an obligation vis-à-vis a third party

which will probably result in an outflow of resources, whereby

it is not possible to reliably estimate the extent of an outflow

of resources. Long-term provisions amounting to the net

present value of the anticipated outflow of resources are 

formed in respect of liabilities which are not expected to

result in outflow of resources until the subsequent year.

Discounting is carried out at the market interest rates. Settle-

ment value also includes anticipated cost increases. The

valuation rate for the provisions is reviewed on each reporting

date. Provisions are not offset against rights of recourse.

Liabilities

Liabilities arising from finance lease agreements are recognised

at the time when the lease contract is concluded at the present

value of the leasing rate. All other liabilities are recognised at

the amount repayable or amortised costs using the effective

interest rate method. Liabilities which are not subject to

interest payments or only subject to low interest payments

are discounted at the market rate if they have a term of more

than one year and the discount is substantial.

Financial liabilities consist of liabilities due to banks, trade

accounts payable, advances received, liabilities from bills of

exchange, liabilities to jointly controlled entities, liabilities

from derivative financial instruments, liabilities from financial

leases and the other liabilities that are reported under other

liabilities.

57

(8.) Notes to the consolidated income statement

(8.1) Net sales 

In 2007, net sales of EUR 10,520 thousand (2006: EUR

11,174 thousand) were recognised in respect of long-term

construction contracts according to the POC method.

(8.2) Costs of sales

This item includes the direct expenses incurred in producing

goods for sale, including the cost of materials that comprise

the goods sold. 

(8.3) Selling expenses

(8.4) Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses are administrative costs that are not

attributable to production, development or sales.

31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Discount rate 5.35% 4.30%

Pension indexation 1.75% 1.75%

Salary increase 3.00% 3.00%

Fluctuation rate 4.50% 4.50%

Benefit obligation calculation parameters
EUR '000 2007 % 2006 %

Western Europe 508,867 54.9 497,458 57.0

Eastern Europe 221,695 23.9 182,872 20.9

Asia 149,024 16.1 158,841 18.2

Rest of world 47,763 5.1 34,237 3.9

Total 927,349 100.0 873,408 100.0

Net sales 

EUR '000 2007 2006

Raw materials and supplies -403,638 -377,279

Personnel expenses -94,668 -85,186

Depreciation and amortisation -16,644 -17,158

External services -6,863 -7,370

Other personnel costs -5,735 -7,815

Rent -2,837 -2,628

Travel and entertainment expenses -2,174 -1,860

Other costs -27,386 -27,177

Total -559,945 -526,473

Costs of sales

EUR '000 2007 2006

Personnel costs -84,396 -77,665

Advertising costs -25,328 -22,881

Outgoing freights -22,023 -20,150

Sales force -16,081 -14,859

Rental and leasing charges -8,061 -6,952

Depreciation and amortisation -4,320 -4,153

Bad debt provisions on receivables -3,084 -3,680

Legal and consulting fees -1,136 -1,296

Other selling expenses -19,971 -20,661

Total -184,400 -172,297

Selling expenses

EUR '000 2007 2006

Personnel costs -30,433 -28,530

Legal and consulting charges -5,305 -5,025

Depreciation and amortisation -4,425 -3,488

Travel and entertainment expenses -2,274 -2,133

Rental and leasing charges -1,678 -1,250

Communication costs -1,100 -1,178

Other administrative expenses -12,642 -12,011

Total -57,857 -53,615

Administrative expenses
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The interest result consists of the following interest income

and expenses:

The financial result is as follows:

Foreign currency exchange gains on loans result exclusively

from the conversion of the senior notes in the amount of

EUR 67.5 million (EUR 80.0 million) which were taken out in

2006 (see [9.9] in the notes). The senior notes are fully hedged

against currency risks by interest rate and currency swaps.

These derivatives were reported at their negative fair value 

of EUR 6,376 thousand (2006: EUR 4,454 thousand) on the

reporting date. The loss ensuing from fair value measurement

of these interest rate and currency swaps of EUR 1,922 

thousand (2006: EUR 4,454 thousand) is reported under the

item of losses from derivative financial instruments.

(8.10) Income taxes

Current domestic taxes are calculated on the basis of a mixed

taxation rate of 39.5% (2006: 39.5%). The taxation rate has

not changed since last year and consists of corporation tax of

25%, a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% and 13% trade tax. The

local income tax rates which currently apply for foreign entities

vary, as in the previous year, between 10.0% and 40.0%.
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(8.5) Research and development costs

(8.6) Other operating income

Other operating income includes currency exchange gains from

operating activities of EUR 6,297 thousand (2006: EUR 4,237

thousand), income from the disposal of fixed and intangible

assets of EUR 1,467 thousand (2006: EUR 676 thousand) and

government grants and subsidies of EUR 642 thousand (2006:

EUR 1,100 thousand). 

The currency gains from operating activities mainly include

profits from the different exchange rates on the origination and

payment dates of foreign currency receivables and liabilities,

and currency gains resulting from measurement at the effect-

ive rate on the reporting date. Foreign currency losses are

reported under other operating expenses. These currency

gains and losses mainly result from intragroup transactions

because the subsidiaries' transactions with customers and

suppliers are predominantly in local currency.

(8.7) Other operating expenses

(8.8) Result from investments stated at equity

The result from investments stated at equity of EUR -1,036

thousand (2006: EUR -680 thousand) pertains exclusively to

the jointly controlled entity WILO Middle East LLC, Riad/Saudi

Arabia in 2006 and 2007.

(8.9) Financial result

The financial result is as follows:

EUR '000 2007 2006

Personnel costs -15,798 -14,316

Depreciation and amortisation -1,697 -1,339

Legal and consulting fees -702 -420

Externally procured maintenance services -558 -379

Other research and development costs -8,799 -7,627

Total -27,554 -24,081

Research and development costs

EUR '000 2007 2006

Currency differences in operating activities -9,212 -6,311

Losses from the disposal of fixed assets -971 -671

Goodwill impairment -2,000 -1,454

Other operating expenses -2,241 -4,492

Total -14,424 -12,928

Other operating expenses

EUR '000 2007 2006

Interest result -6,387 -3,143

Other financial result 2,565 -1,846

Total -3,822 -4,989

Financial result

EUR '000 2007 2006

Interest income from cash and
lending transactions 1,088 1,624

Interest income from derivative
financial instruments 584 292

Interest income 1,672 1,916

Interest on debt outstanding -7,593 -4,520

Interest on financial leases -466 -539

IInntteerreesstt  eexxppeennsseess --88,,005599 --55,,005599

Interest result -6,387 -3,143

Interest result

EUR '000 2007 2006

Foreign currency exchange gains on loans 6,275 6,806

Gains from derivative financial instruments 2,253 1,621

Dividends from associated entities 55 55

Other income 7 7

Other financial income 8,590 8,489

Losses from derivative financial instruments -4,169 -8,559

Interest costs of long-term provisions 
and liabilities -1,798 -1,701

Other expenses -58 -75

Other financial expenses -6,025 -10,335

Other financial result 2,565 -1,846

Other financial result

EUR '000 2007 2006

Tax expenditure in the year under review -29,849 -35,338

Tax expenditure relating to other periods -2,764 -1,680

Actual income taxes -32,613 -37,018

Deferred tax assets / liabilities -1,176 1,468

Income taxes -33,789 -35,550

Income taxes
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Breakdown of deferred taxes by balance sheet item

The deferred tax assets and liabilities which have been formed in connection with balancing and valuation differences relating to

the individual balance sheet items and in connection with tax carryforwards are shown below.

60

Reconciliation of income taxes

The German Annual Tax Act 2008 reduced the mixed rate of

taxation which is used to calculate deferred tax assets and

liabilities in Germany from 39.5% to 30.8%. The taxation

rate consists of corporation tax of 15.0% (2006: 25.0%), a

solidarity surcharge of 5.5% (2006: 5.5%) and an average

Group trade tax.

WILO AG reports a tax expense of EUR 33,789 thousand (2006:

EUR 35,550 thousand) in the consolidated income statement

for 2007. This is EUR 3,552 thousand lower (2006: EUR 2,537

thousand lower) than the expected tax charge of EUR 37,341

thousand (2006: EUR 38,087 thousand), which results if the

domestic rate of 39.5% (2006: 39.5%) is applied at Group level.

This difference exists for the following reasons:

(8.11) Consolidated net income

EBIT is reported before the result from investments stated at

equity, the financial result and income taxes. The income and

expense items in the consolidated income statement were used

to calculate EBIT and consolidated net income. The interest

result is contained in financial result in the income statement.

(8.12) Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the portion of

consolidated net income after income taxes which is attribu-

table to WILO AG shareholders by the weighted average

number of shares in circulation in the year under review. Both

undiluted and diluted earnings per share are EUR 6.15 (2006:

EUR 6.12). No deferred taxes were recognised in equity in the year under

review (2006: EUR 86 thousand).

Tax loss carryfowards of EUR 6,562 (2006: EUR 5,866 thousand)

existed on the reporting date. EUR 2,422 thousand (2006:

EUR 2,619 thousand) of these have an indefinite carryforward

period. EUR 4,140 thousand (2006: EUR 3,247 thousand) of

tax loss carryforwards can only be used for a limited period

of up to 10 years. 

Taking the local income tax rates into account, capitalised

deferred taxes in respect of loss carryfowards amount to 

EUR 1,913 thousand (2006: EUR 1,271 thousand). EUR 1,699

thousand (2006: EUR 1,067 thousand) of these were not

recognised on the reporting date because there is no adequate

guarantee that they will be used in future.

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
EUR ´000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Intangible assets 63 14 2,451 2,716

Tangible assets 228 113 8,499 10,175

Financial assets 4 4 39 187

Inventories 4,245 3,958 73 65

Current liabilities 872 1,430 466 551

Non-current liabilities 378 10 0 0

5,790 5,529 11,528 13,694

Provisons for pensions 3,559 4,402 13 29

Other provisions 876 985 2,188 2,856

Advance payments received 155 116 0 37

Trade accounts receivable 988 470 42 10

Liabilities to banks 0 0 4,126 2,873

Other liabilities 4,400 6,922 9 9

Tax loss carryforwards 214 204 0 0

10,192 13,099 6,378 5,814

Amount carried on the balance sheet 15,982 18,628 17,906 19,508

Breakdown of deferred taxes by balance sheet item

EUR '000 2007 2006

Consolidated net income before tax 94,535 96,423

Projected tax expense -37,341 -38,087

Tax rate changes 654 0

Difference to overseas tax rates 8,708 8,305

Goodwill impairments and
other consolidation processes -895 -2,630

Other permanent differences -1,082 -1,545

Tax-free income 124 575

Deferred tax assets on tax
loss carryforwards not reported -122 12

Witholding tax -958 -793

Taxes not relating to the period -2,764 -1,680

Other taxes -113 293

Actual tax expense -33,789 -35,550

Reconciliation statement

EUR '000 2007 2006

Operating result (EBIT) 99,393 102,092

Result from investments stated at equity -1,036 -680

Financial result -3,822 -4,989

Consolidated net income before tax 94,535 96,423

Income taxes -33,789 -35,550

Consolidated net income after tax 60,746 60,873

Consolidated net income

2007 2006

Profit attributable to WILO AG 
shareholders after income taxes 
in EUR '000 59,977 60,047

Number of shares at 31.12. 9,728,000 9,827,000

Weighted average number of shares 9,745,647 9,813,872

Earnings per share in EUR 6.15 6.12

Earnings per share
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The additions reported under patents and industrial property

rights mainly pertain to software. Software has a limited useful

life and is amortised over a 3 year period.

The additions reported under goodwill pertain to the first-time

consolidation of the subsidiary, CCD Pumps Ltd., London/United

Kingdom in 2007. 

Goodwill is subject to an impairment test at least once a year.

Detailed information about the impairment test is provided in

note [7.].

The mandatory goodwill impairment test in 2007 indicated

that no impairment existed and that no impairments had to

be recognised in respect of the "Water Tec", "Small Circulators"

and other cash-generating units in the year under review. An

impairment of EUR 2,000 thousand was recognised in respect

of the PBU's cash-generating unit in the year under review. In

the prior year, goodwill impairment for the other PBUs of EUR

1,454 thousand was recognised in the income statement. 

Goodwill developed as follows in the Product Business Units

in 2007:

Historical cost

1 January 2006 16,197 54,633 296 71,126

Currency translation -41 -622 -2 -665

Additions 1,178 8,143 7 9,328

Changes to the basis of consolidation 9 0 0 9

Disposals -360 0 -20 -380

Transfers 153 0 -153 0

31 December 2006 17,136 62,154 128 79,418

1 January 2007 17,136 62,154 128 79,418

Currency translation -26 -1,394 15 -1,405

Additions 3,346 3,791 40 7,177

Disposals -275 -602 0 -877

Transfers 22 0 -22 0

31 December 2007 20,203 63,949 161 84,313

Accumulated amortisation

1 January 2006 12,852 4,786 0 17,638

Currency translation -19 -120 0 -139

Changes to the basis of consolidation 9 0 0 9

Amortisation 1,636 1,454 0 3,090

Additions -43 0 0 -43

Disposals -314 0 0 -314

31 December 2006 14,121 6,120 0 20,241

1 January 2007 14,121 6,120 0 20,241

Currency translation 0 -272 0 -272

Amortisation 1,896 2,000 0 3,896

Disposals -273 0 0 -273

31 December 2007 15,744 7,848 0 23,592

Residual book values

1 January 2006 3,345 49,847 296 53,488

31 December 2006 3,015 56,034 128 59,177

1 January 2007 3,015 56,034 128 59,177

31 December 2007 4,459 56,101 161 60,721

Intangible assets

Patents and industrial Payments on
EUR '000 property rights Goodwill account Total

(9.) Consolidated balance sheet disclosures

(9.1) Intangible assets

Intangible assets developed as follows in 2006 and 2007:

Sub Tec 30,431 0 -224 -2,000 0 28,207

Water Tec 17,107 3,791 -730 0 0 20,168

Small Circulators 7,962 0 -109 0 -602 7,251

Other PBUs 534 0 -59 0 0 475

Total 56,034 3,791 -1,122 -2,000 -602 56,101

Development of goodwill

Currency
EUR '000 1.1.2007 Additions translation Impairment Disposals 31.12.2007
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Property, plant and equipment includes EUR 8,692 thousand

of leased assets (2006: EUR 8,894 thousand). Since they are

classified as finance lease under IAS 17, all risks and rewards

incident to ownership are transferred to the WILO Group. The

net asset values are as follows:

The total of future minimum lease payments and their fair

values are shown in the table below. The corresponding liab-

ilities amounted to EUR 7,117 thousand (2006: EUR 8,044

thousand) at 31 December 2007.

(9.3) Operating leases

The total of future minimum lease payments for operating

leases are shown in the table below.

The operating leases mainly pertain to property rental, fixtures

and fittings, tools and equipment. Minimum lease payments

for operating leases of EUR 12,842 thousand (2006: 11,082

thousand) have been recognised in the income statement in

the year under review.

(9.2) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment developed as follows in 2006 and 2007:

Historical cost

1 January 2006 81,976 99,770 137,336 3,080 322,162

Currency translation -678 -763 -615 -10 -2,066

Additions 3,005 6,128 15,180 12,443 36,756

Changes to the basis of consolidation 608 3,159 75 3 3,845

Disposals -1,121 -1,276 -9,422 0 -11,819

Transfers 2,737 4,158 -168 -6,727 0

31 December 2006 86,527 111,176 142,386 8,789 348,878

1 January 2007 86,527 111,176 142,386 8,789 348,878

Currency translation -1,267 -675 -1,351 -280 -3,573

Additions 3,451 9,664 18,435 11,466 43,016

Changes to the basis of consolidation 0 95 403 0 498

Disposals -1,529 -5,719 -10,936 -1 -18,185

Transfers 4,692 1,234 2,721 -8,647 0

31 December 2007 91,874 115,775 151,658 11,327 370,634

Accumulated depreciation

1 January 2006 29,106 70,384 99,090 0 198,580

Currency translation -137 -440 -380 0 -957

Changes to the basis of consolidation 2 1,601 54 0 1,657

Depreciation 2,454 6,663 15,400 0 24,517

Additions 0 0 -25 0 -25

Transfers 27 177 -204 0 0

Disposals -290 -1,037 -7,648 0 -8,975

31 December 2006 31,162 77,348 106,287 0 214,797

1 January 2007 31,162 77,348 106,287 0 214,797

Currency translation -243 -288 -1,012 0 -1,543

Changes to the basis of consolidation 0 89 279 0 368

Depreciation 2,518 7,183 15,489 0 25,190

Transfers -151 -1 152 0 0

Disposals -898 -5,121 -8,968 0 -14,987

31 December 2007 32,388 79,210 122,227 0 223,825

Residual book values

1 January 2006 52,870 29,386 38,246 3,080 123,582

31 December 2006 55,365 33,828 36,099 8,789 134,081

1 January 2007 55,365 33,828 36,099 8,789 134,081

31 December 2007 59,486 36,565 39,431 11,327 146,809

Property, plant and equipment

Technical Fixtures and Payments on account
Land and equipment and fittings, tools and tangible assets in

EUR '000 buildings machines and equipment course of construction Total

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Buildings 4,713 4,996

Technical equipment and machines 547 707

Fixtures & fittings, tools & equipment 3,432 3,191

Total 8,692 8,894

Net asset values of finance leases

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Total minimum lease payments 8,083 9,444

Interest portion -966 -1,400

Present value 7,117 8,044

due within one year 2,266 2,284

due within one to five years 3,918 4,407

due after five years 933 1,353

Minimum lease payments

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Total minimum lease payments 29,418 26,641

due within one year 8,566 7,896

due within one to five years 16,951 14,610

due after five years 3,901 4,135

Operating leases
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The reduction of shares in affiliated entities is the result of the

first-time consolidation of CCD Pumps Ltd., London/United

Kingdom in 2007 and a subsequent purchase price adjustment.

The investments stated at equity consist exclusively of the

shareholding in the jointly controlled entity, WILO Middle East

LLC, Riad/Saudi Arabia. No available-for-sale securities were

transferred in the year under review.

(9.5) Inventories 

Inventory write-downs of EUR 16,759 thousand (2006: 14,573

thousand) were made based on the gross value of EUR 170,422

thousand (2006: EUR 149,574 thousand). Inventory write-

downs of EUR 2,186 thousand (2006: EUR 2,107 thousand) 

in the period under review were recognised in the income

statement as cost of sales.

There are no restrictions on the disposal of inventories, with

the exception of the customary suppliers' title retention.

(9.6) Trade accounts receivable and other assets

A statement of trade accounts receivable and other assets as

at 31 December 2007 and 2006 is provided below:

The management board believes that the carrying amounts

of trade accounts receivable and other assets approximate

their fair values. Write-downs on trade accounts receivable

are made in value adjustment accounts. Specific provisions for

bad debt and flat-rate bad debt provisions in respect of trade

accounts receivable developed as follows in 2007 and 2006: 

Specific provisions for bad debt

(9.4) Investments stated at equity and other financial assets

Investments stated at equity and other financial assets developed as follows in 2006 and 2007:

Financial assets

Shares in Investments Available Counter
affiliated stated at Investments for sale insurance

EUR '000 entities equity in associates securities Other loans claims Total

Historical cost

1 January 2006 1,245 0 136 56 1,051 3,411 5,899

Currency translation 0 0 0 0 -8 0 -8

Additions 6,486 2,718 0 17 1,431 38 10,690

Changes to the basis of consolildation -1,176 0 0 0 -2 0 -1,178

Disposals 0 -680 -90 -1 -727 0 -1,498

31 December 2006 6,555 2,038 46 72 1,745 3,449 13,905

1 January 2007 6,555 2,038 46 72 1,745 3,449 13,905

Currency translation 0 0 0 0 -25 0 -25

Additions 0 13 0 6 996 28 1,043

Changes to the basis of consolildation -6,144 0 0 0 0 0 -6,144

Disposals -379 -1,196 0 -42 -1,320 -141 -3,078

31 December 2007 32 855 46 36 1,396 3,336 5,701

Accumulated depreciation

1 January 2006 28 0 90 13 74 0 205

Depreciation 0 0 0 0 0 75 75

Disposals 0 0 -90 0 0 0 -90

31 December 2006 28 0 0 13 74 75 190

1 January 2007 28 0 0 13 74 75 190

Depreciation 0 0 0 9 0 0 9

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 -75 -75

31 December 2007 28 0 0 22 74 0 124

Residual book values

1 January 2006 1,217 0 46 43 977 3,411 5,694

31 December 2006 6,527 2,038 46 59 1,671 3,374 13,715

1 January 2007 6,527 2,038 46 59 1,671 3,374 13,715

31 December 2007 4 855 46 14 1,322 3,336 5,577

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Raw materials and supplies 45,135 36,340

Work in progress 15,241 14,974

Finished goods 93,059 83,419

Payments on account 228 268

Total 153,663 135,001

Inventories

Trade accounts receivable 203,285 199,830 3,455 186,522 186,349 173

Accounts receivable 
from jointly controlled entities 2,506 2,506 0 50 50 0

Accounts receivable from associates 300 300 0 358 358 0

Derivative financial instruments 1,164 1,108 56 325 261 64

Other receivables 24,017 22,741 1,276 15,136 13,299 1,837

Other assets 27,987 26,655 1,332 15,869 13,968 1,901

Total 231,272 226,485 4,787 202,391 200,317 2,074

Trade accounts receivable and other assets

31.12.2007 31.12.2006
Thereof with a residual term of Thereof with a residual term of

EUR ´000 Total < 1 year > 1 year Total < 1 year > 1 year

EUR '000 2007 2006

1 January 6,329 6,448

Change to the basis of consolidation 17 45

Additions 1,154 1,844

Utilisation -774 -1,430

Reversals -199 -578

31 December 6,527 6,329

Specific provisions for bad debt
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Treasury stock

At 31 December 2007, 272,000 (2006: 173,000) shares of

treasury stock with a book value of EUR 7,892 thousand

(2006: EUR 5,533 thousand) were deducted from equity.

The shares in circulation have developed as follows:

Minority interests

Minority interests are held by shareholders in Mather And Platt

Pumps Ltd., Pune/India (37.16%) and Mather And Platt Fire

Systems Ltd., Pune/India (44.52%).

Dividends

Total dividend payments of EUR 22,122 thousand (EUR 18,747

thousand) were made in 2007. This corresponds to a dividend

per share of EUR 2.25 (2006: EUR 1.90).

Capital management

One of the WILO Group's business objectives is to sustain a

strong equity base that inspires the confidence of all key 

stakeholders. A solid equity base also enables lenders to make

a reliable assessment of a company's risk situation which is

absolutely necessary if the WILO Group is to obtain favourable

financing terms.

The management board, the Supervisory Board and the WILO AG

shareholders ensure a responsible dividend policy and an

appropriate return on invested capital. In doing this, they

contribute to the Company's appreciation in value and 

safeguard its future. 

Monthly reports are provided to WILO AG's management board

as a source of information about the WILO Group's equity

position. The equity positions of consolidated entities are also

reviewed both at regular intervals and on an ad hoc basis.

Measures are implemented as necessary, taking the tax and

legal frameworks into account, to sustain an appropriate

capital base that enables each subsidiary to attain its business

objectives and the WILO Group to meet its strategic objectives.

The WILO Group reported equity of EUR 297,690 thousand

(2006: EUR 265,511 thousand) at 31 December 2007. This

mainly consists of freely disposable retained earnings of EUR

284,772 thousand (2006: EUR 247,084 thousand).

WILO AG took out senior notes in the amount of EUR 67.5

million (USD 80.0 million) in 2006. This was associated with a

minimum capital requirement. The company complied in full

with this minimum capital requirement in 2006 and 2007.

Detailed information about the senior notes is provided in

note [9.9].
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Flat-rate bad debt provisions

There are no restrictions on the disposal of trade account

receivables or other assets.

Trade receivables include POC receivables of EUR 1,912

thousand (2006: EUR 1,621 thousand). These were offset

against advances received of EUR 436 thousand (EUR 412

thousand). The cost of sales of these receivables, including

profits proportionate to the percentage of completion of

customer-specific construction contracts, exceeds advances

received. The total cost of sales and profit proportionate 

to percentage of completion in respect of contracts still in

progress on the reporting date is EUR 2,348 thousand (EUR

2,033 thousand). In 2007, customer advances of EUR 487

thousand (2006: 527 thousand) were received and offset

against POC receivables and liabilities. POC liabilities of EUR

51 thousand (2006: EUR 115 thousand) existed on the 

reporting date and are recognised under current liabilities

(see [9.10] in the notes).

(9.7) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 25,298

thousand (2006: EUR 59,332 thousand) mainly comprise

liquid funds and sight deposits held with banks. Restrictions

on disposal exist in respect of EUR 108 thousand (2006: 

EUR 52 thousand).

(9.8) Equity

Share capital

WILO AG's share capital was EUR 26,000 thousand on the

reporting date and it is paid up in full. It is grouped in

10,000,000 no-par registered shares that are not freely

transferable.

Retained earnings

The statutory retained earnings comprise 10% of the holding

company WILO AG's share capital pursuant to section 150,

paragraph 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act

(Aktiengesetz, AktG). 

Currency translation differences

The balance sheet item “Currency translation differences“

includes all differences resulting from the translation of the

foreign-currency financial statements of all consolidated

entities reported at equity in the consolidated financial

statements.

EUR '000 2007 2006

1 January 2,155 2,171

Change to the basis of consolidation 39 0

Additions 1,930 1,076

Utilisation -787 -234

Reversals -1,014 -858

31 December 2,323 2,155

Flat-rate bad debt provisions

Number of shares 2007 2006

1 January 9,827,000 9,760,000

Treasury stock acquisitions -115,000 -160,000

Treasury stock disposals 16,000 227,000

31 December 9,728,000 9,827,000

Shares in circulation
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Statement of changes in group equity

The statement of changes in group equity in the period 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2007 is shown below:

(9.9) Non-current liabilities

On 21 March 2006, WILO AG took up senior notes with a total

value of EUR 67.5 million (USD 80 million) within the scope of

a US private placement. They were taken up in 2 tranches of

USD 40 million each and mature in 2013 and 2016 respectively.

The senior notes are subject to a fixed rate of interest over

their entire term and derivative financial instruments have

been used to hedge them against currency rate fluctuation.

They are not secured by the Company's real property or

financial assets. The Company is required to ensure conformity

with certain financial ratios which are customary in the market

(ratio of collateral to total assets, ratio of consolidated net debt

to consolidated EBITDA and a minimum capital requirement).

WILO AG complied in full with this minimum capital requirement

in 2006 and 2007. The agreement also includes a series of

customary grounds for termination. 

The borrowings include 3 loans (2006: 5 loans) in a total

nominal amount of EUR 20.0 million (2006: EUR 38.0 million).

The outstanding liability on the reporting date was EUR 8.9

million (2006: EUR 17.4 million). It is divided into a long-term

and a short-term portion in accordance with the amortisation

schedule. The short-term portion is reported under current

financial liabilities. The long-term portion has terms which

expire between 2009 and 2013. The fixed annual rates of

interest on these loans and the senior notes range from

3.75% to 5.33%. 

Collateral for two loans with an outstanding liability of EUR

6.9 million on 31 December 2007 is provided by land charges

of EUR 10.0 million on the Company's premises in Hof, Heim-

gartenstrasse 1-3 as at 31 December 2007.

The trade accounts payable and other liabilities have residual

terms of between 1 and 5 years. 

The management board assumes that the carrying amounts

of non-current trade accounts payable and other liabilities

correspond to their fair values. The fair value of non-current

liabilities, calculated by banks using net present value models,

was EUR 67,630 thousand on 31 December 2007.

Statement of changes in equity

Currency
Retained translation Treasury Total equity Minority Total

EUR '000 Share capital earnings adjustment stock of WILO AG interests equity

1 January 2006 26,000 208,807 -1,043 -4,200 229,564 783 230,347

Consolidated net income 2006 0 60,047 0 0 60,047 826 60,873

Dividends 0 -18,747 0 0 -18,747 0 -18,747

Cost of treasury stock 0 0 0 -8,205 -8,205 0 -8,205

Disposal of treasury stock 0 -2,894 0 6,872 3,978 0 3,978

Currency
translation adjustment 0 0 -2,606 0 -2,606 0 -2,606

Other changes 0 -129 0 0 -129 0 -129

31 December 2006 26,000 247,084 -3,649 -5,533 263,902 1,609 265,511

1 January 2007 26,000 247,084 -3,649 -5,533 263,902 1,609 265,511

Consolidated net income 2007 0 59,977 0 0 59,977 769 60,746

Dividends 0 -22,122 0 0 -22,122 0 -22,122

Cost of treasury stock 0 0 0 -2,945 -2,945 0 -2,945

Disposal of treasury stock 0 -176 0 586 410 0 410

Currency
translation adjustment 0 0 -3,846 0 -3,846 -73 -3,919

Other changes 0 9 0 0 9 0 9

31 December 2007 26,000 284,772 -7,495 -7,892 295,385 2,305 297,690

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Liabilities due to banks 62,913 77,772

Thereof with a residual term
of > 1 < 5 years 8,566 15,243
of > 5 years 54,347 62,529

Trade accounts payable 5,299 3,257

Other liabilities 14,253 14,328

Thereof liablities from
derivative financial instruments
with a residual term of > 5 years 6,385 4,454

Financial leases
with a residual term of > 1 < 5 years 3,918 4,407
with a residual term of > 5 years 933 1,353

Other liabilities 3,017 4,114

Deferred tax liabilities 17,906 19,508

Non-current liabilities
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3. The present value of benefit obligations developed as 

follows in the year under review:

The reduction of the actuarial losses in 2007 is mainly the

result of an increase in the discount interest rate of 5.35%

(2006: 4.30%). 

4. The development of the fair value of plan assets is shown

below:

Plan assets mainly consist of qualifying insurance policies with

a minimum return. They do not include financial instruments

issued by the WILO Group, property or other assets which 

are used by the WILO Group. Return on plan assets in the 

year under review was EUR 110 thousand (2006: EUR 125

thousand). The company currently assumes that no further

payments into plan assets will be made in the current year. 

5. The present value of benefit obligations and the fair value

of plan assets correspond to the provisions for pensions as

shown below:

6. The present value of pension obligations and the fair value

of plan assets on the last four reporting dates are shown below:

Provisions for pensions

Provisions for pensions are formed in respect of defined benefit

obligations for eligible active and former employees of the

WILO Group and their surviving relatives on the basis of defined

benefit plans. The amounts of benefit payments depend on

country-specific circumstances and are generally based on

years of service with the company and salary. The amount of

these provisions is based on actuarial assessments of existing

pension obligations which are carried out every year. The

expenses arising from pension commitments are distributed

in accordance with the actuarial report over the employee's

length of service with the company and comprise personnel

costs and interest costs. Pension expenses are allocated to

the relevant functional areas. Interest costs are reported in

the other financial result. Actuarial gains and losses which

exceed 10% of the greater of the defined benefit obligation or

the fair value of plan assets are distributed over the average

remaining years of service of the active employees participating

in the plan. WILO AG's defined benefit plan was discontinued

on 31 December 2005. A defined contribution plan has been

set up in its place in respect of WILO AG employees for whom

a pension obligation exists as of 1 January 2006. The cost of

defined contribution plans in the WILO Group was EUR 2,014

thousand (2006: EUR 816 thousand) in the year under review.

The notes to the provisions for pensions are as follows:

1. The development of pension provisions in the year under

review is shown below.

A reinsurance policy has been concluded to cover provision-

financed pension obligations of EUR 3,336 thousand (2006:

EUR 3,374 thousand).

2. Pension expenses are broken down as follows:

An actuarial loss of EUR 494 thousand (2006: EUR 5,931

thousand) which existed on 31 December 2007 is within the

10% corridor. Last year, the 10% corridor was EUR 4,516

thousand, which means that the corridor was exceeded in

2006 by EUR 1,415 thousand. This amount was distributed

over the average remaining years of service of the active

employees participating in the plan. 

EUR '000 2007 2006

1 January 36,889 35,898

Pension expenses 2,950 3,678

Pension payments -2,020 -2,470

Transfers -2,238 0

Changes to the basis of consolidation,
Currency effects and other changes -68 -217

31 December 35,513 36,889

Development of provisions for pensions

EUR '000 2007 2006

Current service costs 1,020 1,502

Past service costs 13 8

Interest expense 1,910 1,751

Expected return on plan assets -148 -147

Amortisation of actuarial losses 155 564

Total 2,950 3,678

Pension expenses

EUR '000 2007 2006

Present value at 1 January 45,165 47,625

Current service costs 1,020 1,502

Interest expense 1,910 1,751

Past service costs 164 106

Actuarial losses -5,437 -4,010

Pension payments -2,020 -2,470

Transfers -2,238 0

Changes to the basis of consolidation,
Currency effects and other changes -36 661

Present value at 31 December 38,528 45,165

thereof: funded 3,439 3,492

thereof: non-funded 35,089 41,673

Present value of defined benefit obligations

EUR '000 2007 2006

Fair value at 1 January 2,955 2,479

Expected return 148 147

Actuarial losses -1 -22

Changes to the basis of consolidation,
Currency effects and other changes 12 351

Fair value at 31 December 3,114 2,955

Fair value of plan assets

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Present value of funded
pension obligations 3,439 3,492

Less fair value of plan assets -3,114 -2,955

Undercoverage 325 537

Present value of non-funded 
pension obligations 35,089 41,673

Past service cost 164 106

Actuarial losses -494 -5,931

35,084 36,385

Foreign entity plan assets reported 
on the assets side of the balance sheet 373 439

Other changes 56 65

Provisions for pensions 35,513 36,889

Reconciliation with provisions for pensions

EUR '000 31.12.07 31.12.06 31.12.05 31.12.04

Present value of 
pension obligations 38,528 45,165 47,625 36,472

Fair value of plan assets -3,114 -2,955 -2,479 -2,356

Undercoverage 35,414 42,210 45,146 34,116

Coverage of pension obligations
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Current liabilities predominantly consist of overdrafts, short-

term money market loans and the current portion of non-

current liabilities which will be repaid in 2008. Trade accounts

payable and other liabilities consist of outstanding liabilities

for products delivered, services rendered and current expenses.

Liabilities in respect of personnel include accumulated holiday

pay, management bonuses and gratuities, employer's liability

insurance contributions and severance pay. The other liabilities

include charges for tax consulting services, commissions,

provisions, provisions for doubtful debts and other liabilities. 

The other liabilities also include POC liabilities of EUR 51

thousand (2006: EUR 115 thousand) in which the advances

received for customer-specific construction contracts exceed

the cost of conversion.

The management board assumes that the carrying amount of

current liabilities approximates their fair value.

Provisions

Provisions for taxes mainly include provisions for income taxes

in the year under review which were not paid in the advance

tax payments during the year and income taxes for prior years

from concluded company tax audits.

The guarantee provisions are formed in respect of potential

warranty claims. They are based on past experience and 

planned measures.

The provision for bonuses and rebates was formed mainly in

respect of reimbursements to customers in 2007.
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Provisions for similar obligations

Provisions for similar obligations amounted to EUR 6,810

thousand (2006: EUR 6,517 thousand) in 2007. They include

obligations in respect of the part-time employment scheme

for elderly employees at WILO AG of EUR 4,480 thousand

(2006: EUR 5,433 thousand). The fair value of plan assets on

the reporting date of EUR 1,464 thousand (2006: EUR 1,697

thousand) was deducted. The discount rate for the calculation

of obligations relating to the part-time employment scheme

for elderly employees at 31 December 2007 was 5.35%

(2006: 4.30%). 

Guarantee provisions

The guarantee provisions are made in accordance with past

experience and planned measures.

(9.10) Current liabilities

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Liabillities due to banks 26,656 21,020

Trade accounts payable 59,419 62,790

Other liabilities 67,575 77,557

Thereof
Payments on account 6,273 4,828

Notes payable 7,665 8,257

Liabilities to jointly controlled entities 0 2,720

Other liabilities in respect of taxes 10,240 11,095

Liabilities in respect of personnel 18,143 19,813

Other liabilities in respect of social security 4,367 4,255

Liabilities from derivative financial instruments 733 907

Liabilities from financial leases 2,266 2,284

Other liabilities 17,888 23,398

Current liabilities

Guarantee provisions 3,815 -34 -305 -273 491 3,694

Guarantee provisions

Currency
EUR '000 1.1.2007 translations Utilisation Reversals Additions 31.12.2007

Provisons for taxes 5,260 520 -182 -5,780 -47 8,035 7,806

Guarantee provisions 9,100 17 -151 -1,952 -265 3,005 9,754

Bonuses & rebates 9,565 0 -103 -9,183 -260 17,199 17,218

Other provisions 9,436 502 -69 -7,438 -2,295 6,680 6,816

Total 33,361 1,039 -505 -24,353 -2,867 34,919 41,594

Current provisions

Consoli- Currency
EUR '000 1.1.2007 dations translation Utilisation Reversals Additions 31.12.2007
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The assets stated in the segment reports by geographical

region correspond to the assets recognised in the balance

sheet as shown below.

The liabilities stated in segment reports by geographical region

correspond to the provisions and liabilities recognised in the

balance sheet as shown below.

The assets stated in segment reports by business segment

correspond to the assets recognised in the balance sheet as

shown below.

In the year under review, all jointly used assets were allocated to

the segments. Last year, they were all reported under central

services and not allocated to segments. All investments in

jointly used assets were accordingly allocated to the segments

and not, as in the previous year, reported under other business

segments. The figures for the previous year have been adjusted

accordingly. The figures for each segment are provided in a

separate overview on pages 44 and 45.

(10.) Consolidated cash flow statement

The consolidated cash flow statement is broken down into 

cash flows from operating activities, investing activities and 

financing activities. The effects of exchange rate fluctuation

and consolidation-related changes on liquid assets are 

shown separately. On 31 December 2007, cash and sight

deposits held with banks amounted to EUR 25,298 thousand 

(2006: EUR 59,332 thousand), whereby EUR 108 thousand

(2006: EUR 52 thousand) were subject to disposal restrictions.

The operating result (EBIT) reported in the income statement is

the variable upon which the consolidated cash flow statement

is based (see note [8.11]).

The exchange rate and consolidation-related change to liquid

assets of EUR 2,197 thousand in 2007 pertains to the addition

of EUR 2,790 thousand in cash in connection with the first-

time consolidation of CCD Pumps Ltd., London/United

Kingdom. There is also a negative effect of EUR 593 thousand

in 2007 from the translation of cash held in foreign currencies

into the reporting currency.

(11.) Segment reporting

In accordance with IAS 14 (Segment Reporting), the data

pertaining to the Group's activities is broken down by 

geographical region as the primary reporting format and by

business segment as the secondary reporting format. The

segments are structured according to the risks and rewards 

of the Group and correspond to its internal organisational 

and management structure and system of reporting to the

management and Supervisory Boards. Segment information by

geographical region and business segment is reported after

consolidation of intrasegment and intersegment transactions.

Intersegment sales are also shown in the segment reports.

When segment information is provided by geographical region,

external sales are oriented on the customer's domicile. Segment

information by business segment is oriented on customer use

of WILO's products.

Segment information is prepared in accordance with the

accounting policies used for the underlying consolidated

financial statements. The values are consolidated within the

individual segments. Intersegment transfers are segment

revenues from transactions with other segments. The segment

results include the earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) and

minority interest. The assets that are allocated to geographical

segments correspond to the total assets reported in the

balance sheet, not including deferred tax assets. The assets

that are allocated to business segments include trade 

receivables, inventories and other assets, fixed and intangible

assets, provided that an asset breakdown is feasible. Segment

liabilities include all debts except for provisions for taxes, 

liabilities due to banks and deferred tax liabilities. The 

investments are additions to fixed and intangible assets.

Transactions between consolidated trading companies were

effected at the prices which are customary in the market;

supplies to production companies were effected according to

the cost plus principle.

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Assets 623,340 603,697

Deferred tax assets 15,982 18,628

Assets in the balance sheet 639,322 622,325

Assets by geographical region

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Debt 226,351 233,254

Financial liabilities 89,569 98,792

Provisions for taxes 7,806 5,260

Deferred tax liabilities 17,906 19,508

Provisions and liabilities 341,632 356,814

Liabilities by geographical region

Euro '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Assets 574,101 515,017

Financial assets 5,577 13,715

Other assets and tax claims 18,364 15,633

Cash 25,298 59,332

Deferred tax assets 15,982 18,628

Assets in the balance sheet 639,322 622,325

Assets by business segment
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(12.2) Disclosures on the carrying values and fair values of financial instruments

Financial assets

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets in each asset class as at 31 December 2007 and

2006. They are either reported in the balance sheet at nominal value or amortised cost.

The other available-for-sale financial assets at 31 December

2006 of EUR 6,573 thousand mainly pertain CCD Pumps Ltd.,

London/United Kingdom, which was acquired at the end of

2006. This company was consolidated on 1 January 2007.

The market value of the shares in this subsidiary is equal to the

cost of acquisition. 

The fair value of other available-for-sale assets in the

amount of EUR 50 thousand which are reported in the 

balance sheet at amortised cost could not be reliably

ascertained at 31 December 2007.
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(12.) Disclosures relating to financial instruments

(12.1) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used for hedging purposes

and include interest rate and currency swaps, forward

exchange transactions and options as well as futures and

options contracts on commodities. They are measured using

standard market processes (valuation methods) on the basis of

instrument-specific market parameters. Fair value is calculated

with present value and option price models. Whenever possible,

the parameters used by these models are the relevant market

value and interest rates on the reporting date, which means

that all changes to fair value are directly recognised in the

income statement. The fair value of forward exchange trans-

actions is calculated on the basis of the average spot exchange

rate on the reporting date, taking the forward premiums and

discounts for the remaining term of the contract versus the

agreed forward exchange rate into account. In the case of

interest rate swaps, fair value is measured by discounting the

expected future cash flow based on the market rates that apply

for the remaining term of the contracts. Futures contracts

are measured on the basis of the relevant market prices

and forward premiums and discounts. Option contracts on 

commodities, on the other hand, are measured on the basis

of option price models. The fair values of the derivative financial

instruments are measured by banks.

The interest result includes gains of EUR 2,253 thousand (2006:

EUR 1,621 thousand) and losses of EUR 4,169 thousand (2006:

EUR 8,559 thousand) (see [8.9] in the notes).

Forward exchange transactions -224 56 -9 -295 118 15,745 13,951

Interest rate and currency swaps 375 0 -6,376 -4,198 -1,803 73,243 73,243

Forward exchange options 733 0 0 69 664 13,104 9,862

Commodity derivatives -509 0 0 -612 103 16,602 20,130

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value Nominal volume
Time to maturity as of 31.12.2007 Previous Total

EUR '000 within 1 year > 1 < 5 years > 5 years year change 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Financial assets as at 31 December 2007

Non-current assets

Other investments – 1,322 1,322 – – 50 50

Trade accounts receivable – 3,455 3,455 0 0 – –

Other assets – 1,276 1,276 – – 0 0

Current assets

Trade accounts receivable – 197,918 197,918 1,912 1,912 – –

Other assets – 25,547 25,547 – – 0 0

Cash 25,298 – – – – – –

Carrying amount by valuation category – 229,518 – – – 50 –

Market value by asset class 25,298 – 229,518 – 1,912 – 50

Financial assets as at 31 December 2006

Non-current assets

Other investments – 1,671 1,671 – – 6,573 6,573

Trade accounts receivable – 173 173 0 0 – –

Other assets – 1,837 1,837 – – 0 0

Current assets

Trade accounts receivable – 184,728 184,728 1,621 1,621 – –

Other assets – 13,707 13,707 – – 0 0

Cash 59,332 – – – – – –

Carrying amount by valuation category – 202,116 – – – 6,573 –

Market value by asset class 59,332 – 202,116 – 1,621 – 6,573

Financial assets

Amortised cost
Nominal value Loans and receivables POC receivables Available for sale

Carrying Market Carrying Market Carrying Market
EUR '000 amount value amount value amount value
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Financial liabilities

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial liabilities in each investment category as at 31 December

2007 and 2006. They are reported in the balance sheet at amortised cost of acquisition, fair value or the net present value of

lease instalments.

The market values of non-current liabilities are calculated by

banks using net present value models. The market value of

other non-current liabilities which are reported in the balance

sheet at amortised cost of acquisition or as liabilities from

financial leases approximately corresponds to the carrying

amount because these liabilities are insignificant. The company

assumes that the market value of all current liabilities corres-

ponds to their carrying amount. 
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The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets in each asset class as at 31 December 2007 and

2006. They are reported at fair value (market value) in the balance sheet.

Financial assets as at 31 December 2007

Non-current assets

Other investments 14 14 – –

Other assets 0 0 56 56

Current assets

Other assets 0 0 1,108 1,108

Carrying amounts by valuation category 14 – 1,164 –

Market value by asset class – 14 – 1,164

Financial assets as at 31 December 2006

Non-current assets

Other investments 59 59 – –

Other assets 0 0 64 64

Current assets

Other assets 0 0 261 261

Carrying amounts by valuation category 59 – 325 –

Market value by asset class – 59 – 325

Financial assets

Fair value
Available for sale Held for trading

EUR '000 Carrying amount Market value Carrying amount Market value

The fair value of other investments of EUR 14 thousand (2006:

EUR 59 thousand) was calculated on the basis of market and

stock exchange prices on the reporting date. The calculation

of the fair value of other assets which consist exclusively of

derivative financial instruments is shown in note [12.1].

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2007

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 62,913 67,630 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 5,299 5,299 – – – –

Other liabilities 3,017 3,017 6,385 6,385 4,851 4,851

Current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 26,656 26,656 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 59,419 59,419 – – – –

Other liabilities* 31,826 31,826 733 733 2,266 2,266

Carrying amount by valuation category 189,130 – 7,118 – – –

Market value by asset class – 193,847 – 7,118 – 7,117

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2006

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 77,772 77,772 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 3,257 3,257 – – – –

Other liabilities 4,114 4,114 4,454 4,454 5,760 5,760

Current liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 21,020 21,020 – – – –

Trade accounts payable 62,790 62,790 – – – –

Other liabilities* 39,203 39,203 907 907 2,284 2,284

Carrying amount by valuation category 208,156 – 5,361 – – –

Market value by asset class – 208,156 – 5,361 – 8,044

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost of acquisition Fair value Liabilities from finance lease

Other liablilities Held for trading
EUR '000 Carrying amount Market value Carrying amount Market value Carrying amount Market value

* The other liabilities do not include liabilities in respect of taxes, personnel or social security contributions.
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(13.) Risk management and derivative financial instruments

Basic principles of risk management

Market risks

The WILO Group's assets, liabilities and planned transactions

are exposed to market risks in connection with exchange rate,

interest rate and raw material price fluctuation. The objective

of financial risk management is to ensure that operating and

fiscal activities limit these market risks. Derivative and 

non-derivative hedging instruments are selected in accordance

with the assessment of the risk. Derivative financial instruments

are used exclusively as hedging instruments. They are not used

for trading or other speculative purposes. However, 'hedge

accounting' according to IFRS is not applied. The general credit

risk arising from these derivative financial instruments is low

because they are only concluded with banks that have an

immaculate credit standing. 

They are selected by the management board on the basis of

the Company's financial policy and strategy and monitored

by the Supervisory Board. Group Treasury is responsible for

the implementation of the financial policy, financial strategy

and risk management. 

Further notes on risks and risk management are provided in

the Group management report under the sections entitled

"Risk report" and "Risks and measures".

Currency risks

The currency risks that the WILO Group is exposed to result

mainly from its financing and operating activities. The currency

risks from financing activities relate to borrowings from external

lenders in foreign currencies and foreign currency loans which

are taken up to finance Group companies. The currency risks

from operating activities pertain mainly to intragroup 

transactions. The associated currency risks are countered by

offsetting transactions and the use of derivative financial

instruments. The currency risk from the operating activities

of Group companies with external customers and suppliers is

considered to be negligible because the majority of these

transactions are settled in functional currency. Foreign currency

trade accounts receivable of EUR 5,655 thousand and foreign

currency trade accounts payable of EUR 1,337 thousand existed

at 31 December 2007. Most outstanding liabilities were in US

dollars. Long-term foreign currency borrowings of EUR 55,253

thousand were also reported at 31 December 2007. EUR 54,347

of these pertain to the senior notes amounting to USD 80.0

million which were taken out in 2006.

If the euro had been upvalued (devalued) by 10% against all

currencies at 31 December 2007, the operating result (EBIT)

would have been EUR 431 thousand lower (higher) and the

financial result would have been EUR 2,038 thousand higher

(EUR 1,343 thousand lower). The impacts of these scenarios

on the operating result were calculated by translating foreign

currency receivables and liabilities into the reporting currency.

The impact of the scenarios on the financial result would lead

to currency translation adjustments on long-term borrowings

of EUR 5,166 thousand at a 10% euro upvaluation (EUR -5,166

thousand at a 10% euro devaluation) on the reporting date.

The measurement of interest rate and currency swaps, forward

exchange transactions and currency options would also have

had a negative (positive) effect on the financial result of EUR

3,128 thousand (EUR 3,823 thousand) if the euro had been

upvalued (devalued) by 10%. The sensitivity analysis is based

on the calculation of derivative and non-derivative financial

instrument market value changes in conjunction with a defined

change to the underlying risk variable of "currency" and

otherwise unchanged factors of influence on value at the

reporting date. The calculations are made using net present

value and option price valuation models.

(12.3) Net gains and losses in each asset class

The following tables show the net gains and losses as a result of changes to market value, value appreciation, value adjustment

and the effects of foreign currency translation in each asset class for financial assets and liabilities which were recognised in the

income statement in 2007 and 2006.

2007

Loans and receivables 229,518 229,518 – -3,007 1,097 -111 -2,021

Available for sale 64 64 0 0 0 0 0

Held for trading -5,954 -5,954 -1,916 – – n. a. -1,916

Other liabilities -189,130 -193,847 – – – 6,240 6,240

Total -1,916 -3,007 1,097 6,129 2,303

2006

Loans and receivables 202,116 202,116 – -2,800 1,392 -189 -1,597

Available for sale 6,632 6,632 0 0 0 0 0

Held for trading -5,036 -5,036 -6,938 – – n. a. -6,938

Other liabilities -208,156 -208,156 – – – 6,781 6,781

Total -6,938 -2,800 1,392 6,592 -1,754

Net gains/ losses

EUR '000 Additions Reversals Effects of foreign
Carrying amount Market value Change in to bad debt to bad debt currency Net gains/

Category of asset at 31.12. at 31.12. fair value* provisions provisions translation losses

*The changes to fair value are the result of realised and unrealised gains and losses from financial assets and financial liabilities in the "Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit and loss" valuation category. These amounts do not include interest income and expense.
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Retention of title minimises the credit risk associated with trade

accounts receivable. 

There is a maximum credit risk for available-for-sale financial

assets of EUR 64 thousand (2006: EUR 6,632 thousand) and

of EUR 1,164 thousand (2006: EUR 325 thousand) for held-for-

trading financial assets, which consist exclusively of derivative

financial instruments.

At 31 December 2007, specific provisions for bad debt of

EUR 6,527 thousand (2006: EUR 6,329 thousand) had been

formed in respect of overdue trade accounts receivable of

EUR 8,703 thousand (2006: EUR 8,439 thousand). Flat-rate

bad debt provisions for country-specific credit risks relating

to trade receivables of EUR 2,323 thousand (2006: EUR 2,155

thousand) also existed on the reporting date. The provisions

for bad debt are formed for different and customary reasons. 
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Interest risks

The interest risk results mainly from variable borrowings which

are subject to interest payments and cash investments.

Interest risks arise from an increase or decrease in the interest

curve. The WILO Group uses derivatives to hedge against

unexpected interest rate movements. There is no significant

exposure to interest risk pursuant to IFRS 7 since the majority

of borrowings are subject to long term fixed rates of interest. 

If the market interest rate had been 100 base points higher

(lower) on 31 December 2007, the financial result would have

been EUR 430 thousand (EUR 465 thousand) higher (lower).

The impacts of these scenarios on the financial result of EUR

430 thousand or EUR -465 thousand are exclusively based

on the measurement of the interest components of interest

rate and currency swaps on the reporting date. Since the

majority of borrowings are subject to a long term fixed rate of

interest, the impacts of the market interest rate fluctuation

scenarios on original liabilities which are subject to variable

interest rates is low. The sensitivity analysis is based on the

calculation of derivative and original financial instrument

market value changes in conjunction with a defined change

to the underlying risk variable of "market interest rate" and

otherwise unchanged factors of influence on value at the

reporting date. The calculations are made using net present

value and option price valuation models.

Raw material price risks

The WILO Group is primarily exposed to a raw material price

risk due to price fluctuations on the world market for copper

and aluminium and copper and aluminium-based alloys. It

uses commodity derivatives to minimise this risk. The majority

of the copper and aluminium procurement volume for 2008 

is collateralised.

If the prices of copper and aluminium had been 10% higher

(lower) on 31 December 2007, the financial result would have

been EUR 1,738 thousand higher (lower). The impacts of

these scenarios of EUR 1,738 thousand and EUR –1,738

thousand result exclusively from the value measurement of

commodity derivatives on the reporting date. The sensitivity

analysis is based on the calculation of derivative and original

financial instrument market value changes in conjunction

with a defined change to the underlying risk variable of "raw

material price" and otherwise unchanged factors of influence

on value at the reporting date. The calculations are made

using net present value and option price valuation models.

Credit risks

Customer default risks are counteracted with a standard and

effective Group-wide system for consistent debt management

and payment pattern monitoring. Dependency on individual

customers is limited because WILO does not generate more

than 10% of total net sales with any one customer. There is

no significant exposure to credit risks at the present time. The

carrying amount of financial assets is the maximum credit risk.

The following table shows the maximum credit risk and the

age structure of financial assets which are reported as "Loans

and receivables" and "POC receivables" as at 31 December

2007 and 2006. The current and non-current balance sheet

items are combined. Other investments pertain exclusively to

long-term loans.

31.12.07

Other investments 1,322 1,322 0 0 0 0 0

Trade accounts receivable 203,285 157,496 21,792 7,087 3,569 6,223 7,265

Other assets* 26,823 24,998 63 183 299 1,280 0

31.12.06

Other investments 1,671 1,671 0 0 0 0 0

Trade accounts receivable 186,522 152,177 18,992 4,879 2,311 3,752 4,456

Other assets* 15,544 15,544 0 0 0 0 0

Credit risks

Carrying Thereof neither Thereof overdue in the next time periods
amount overdue nor (in days) but not yet impaired

impaired
EUR '000 up to 30 31–60 61–90 91–180 over 180

*The other assets are shown without the derivative financial instruments.
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(14.) Other disclosures

(14.1) Waive of disclosure 

The following Group companies took recourse to the waive of

disclosure pursuant to section 264, paragraph 3 of the German

Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB): WILO EMU

GmbH, Hof/Austria, WILO-Mitarbeiter-Beteiligungsgesellschaft

mbH, Dortmund/Germany and WILO Nord Amerika GmbH,

Dortmund/Germany.

(14.2) Legal disputes

In 2006, the Federal Cartel Office initiated an investigation

into enterprises operating in the pump industry to ascertain

whether they were breaching cartel law. WILO AG was also

affected by this investigation. The Federal Cartel Office has now

closed the investigation with its decision of 23 January 2008. 

(14.3) Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations

No provisions were formed for the following contingent liab-

ilities, which are recognised at nominal value because the

probability of the risk becoming manifest is assessed as low:

Contingent liabilities on guarantees existed at 31 December

2007 in respect of contracts with a nominal value of EUR 122

thousand (2006: EUR 758 thousand) and an agreed residual

term of less than one year, while nominal liabilities of EUR 1,698

thousand (2006: EUR 2,371 thousand) existed for contracts

with an agreed residual term of more than one year. Indefinite

guarantees and warranties with a nominal liability of EUR

3,992 thousand (2006: EUR 4,579 thousand) also exist. 

Purchase commitments for planned investments in property,

plant and equipment amount to EUR 10,882 thousand (2006:

EUR 7,889 thousand) and EUR 0 (2006: EUR 653 thousand)

for tangible assets.

It is impracticable to estimate the financial impact or state

uncertainties as regards the amount or due date of outward

flows of funds or reimbursement options in connection with

contingent liabilities.

(14.4) Average number of employees over the year

The average number of employees over the year was as follows: 

The average number of employees over the year increased by

9.3% compared with 2006 because the Group compensated

for regional fluctuation in demand by building up its workforce.

Part of the increase is also due to the first-time consolidation

of CCD Pumps Ltd., London/United Kingdom in 2007.

Personnel expenses amounted to EUR 225.3 million (2006:

EUR 205.7 million). 
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Liquidity risks

WILO AG attempts to ensure the cost-effective coverage of

financing requirements for Group company operating activ-

ities at all times. It uses a range of capital market instruments

for this purpose. Cash pool and financing agreeements also

exist with Group companies if this is admissible and practical

under local commercial and tax laws. As a result of existing

credit lines and refinancing options, the WILO Group is not

exposed to any liquidity risk.

The following table shows the contractually-agreed repay-

ment dates and the corresponding cash outflows, including

estimated interest payments on borrowings as at 31 December

2007 and 2006.

31.12.07

Liabilities due to banks

Long-term 62,913 -84,242 -3,293 -20,716 -60,233

Short-term 26,656 -26,656 -26,656 0 0

Trade accounts payable 64,718 -64,718 -59,419 -5,299 0

Liabilities from financial leases 7,117 -8,083 -2,571 -4,508 -1,004

Other liabilities* 34,843 -34,843 -31,826 -3,017 0

Derivative financial instruments 7,118 -2,738 -149 2,336 -4,925

Total 203,365 -221,280 -123,914 -31,204 -66,162

31.12.06

Liabilities due to banks

Long-term 77,772 -105,058 -3,751 -28,967 -72,340

Short-term 21,020 -21,020 -21,020 0 0

Trade accounts payable 66,047 -66,047 -62,790 -3,257 0

Liabilities from financial leases 8,044 -9,444 -2,682 -5,174 -1,588

Other liabilities* 43,317 -43,317 -39,203 -4,114 0

Derivative financial instruments 5,361 -397 -323 2,336 -2,410

Total 221,561 -245,283 -129,769 -39,176 -76,338

Liquidity risks

Carrying Agreed Due within
EUR '000 amount payments < 1 year > 1 < 5 years > 5 years

*The other liabilities do not include any liabilities in respect of taxes, personnel or social security contributions.

EUR '000 31.12.2007 31.12.2006

Contingent liabilities

in respect of guarantees 1,107 4,269

in respect of warranties 4,705 3,439

Total 5,812 7,708

Contingent liabilities

2007 2006

Production 3,063 2,689

Sales and administration 2,758 2,639

Total 5,821 5,328

Germany 1,871 1,738

Overseas 3,950 3,590

Total 5,821 5,328

Employees
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Lease agreements in respect of land and buildings which 

are directly or indirectly owned by shareholders also exist.

Total lease payments of EUR 185 thousand (2006: EUR 176

thousand) were made to shareholders in 2007. The agreed

amount of rent is in conformity with the market rate. A lease

agreement also exists in respect of a building owned by a

company in which a family member of a former management

board member and one shareholder have a participatory 

interest. EUR 414 thousand (2006: EUR 414 thousand) in

rental payments were made in 2007. Resulting finance lease

liabilities of EUR 2,050 thousand (2006: EUR 2,260 thousand)

existed on the reporting date. A suretyship of EUR 1,100

thousand was furnished to the Company in 2005 and remained

in existence in the year under review.

In the year under review, a consulting agreement was concluded

with a member of the founder's family in the amount of EUR

70 thousand (2006: EUR 60 thousand) which will be paid out

in full next year.

(14.8) Remuneration of the management board and the

Supervisory Board

The total remuneration of the management board amounted

to EUR 2.3 million (2006: EUR 2.4 million) in 2007. EUR 1.1

million (2006: 0.8 Mill. EUR) of this relates to fixed remunera-

tion and EUR 1.2 million (2006: EUR 1.6 million) to variable

remuneration, whereby EUR 0.3 million (2006: EUR 0.9 million)

was reported under provisions and will not be paid out until

the consolidated financial statements are approved in the

next financial year. The total remuneration paid to former

members of the management board amounted to EUR 0.7

million in 2007 (2006: EUR 0.5 million). The remuneration of

the Supervisory Board was EUR 0.1 million (2006: EUR 0.1

million). No pension provision was recognised in the balance

sheet for members of the management board at the reporting

date (2006: EUR 2.3 million) because the Company switched

over from a defined benefit plan to a defined contribution

plan at the end of the fiscal year and transferred accrued pension

benefits of EUR 2.3 million to an external provident fund

scheme. In 2007, contributions of EUR 0.9 million were recog-

nised in the income statement in connection with this defined

contribution pension plan. On the reporting date, a pension

provision of EUR 6.6 million (2006: EUR 7.3 million) was

recognised in respect of former members of executive bodies.
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(14.5) Proposal on the appropriation of profits

The management board proposed at the WILO AG shareholders'

meeting of 10 April 2008 the payment of a EUR 2.30 dividend

per share and that the remaining net profit of WILO AG be

carried forward to new account. These dividend payments are

not reported under liabilities in these consolidated financial

statements.

(14.6) Events after the balance sheet date

The management board of WILO AG approved the consolidated

financial statements for submission to the Supervisory Board

on 14 February 2008. It is the responsibility of the Supervisory

Board to examine the consolidated financial statements and

to state whether it endorses them.

(14.7) Related party disclosures

All business transactions with non-consolidated subsidiaries,

jointly controlled entities or associated companies of WILO AG,

which consist exclusively of the supply of products and

services, are carried out at the terms and conditions which

are customary in the market. The total receivables due from

these companies amount to EUR 2,806 thousand (2006: EUR

408 thousand). There were no liabilities to these companies

on the reporting date (2006: EUR 2,720 thousand). Sales and

services charged to these companies amount to EUR 3,711

thousand (2006: EUR 1,024 thousand). 

In 2007, members of the Supervisory Board paid EUR 282

thousand to acquire 11,000 shares in WILO AG and sold

40,000 shares for the price of EUR 1,024 thousand. On 

31 December 2007, 51,000 shares in WILO AG were owned

by members of the Supervisory Board. In 2007, members of

the management board paid EUR 128 thousand to acquire

5,000 shares in WILO AG and sold 40,000 shares in WILO AG

for the price of EUR 1,024 thousand. On 31 December 2007,

37,000 shares in WILO AG were owned by members of the

management board. As a result of these transactions, the

Company reports 272,000 shares as treasury stock with a

carrying value of EUR 7,892 thousand at 31 December 2007.

One of the shareholders owns a heating and air-conditioning

installation company which purchases pumps in quantities

commensurate to its size from the reporting entity. This firm

also installs and performs maintenance on the heating and

air-conditioning systems of the reporting entity. These 

services are remunerated at the terms and conditions which

are customary in this market. On 31 December 2007, trade

receivables and receivables from financing activities from a

heating and air-conditioning installation company of EUR

434 thousand (2006: EUR 24 thousand) existed. There were

no liabilities to these companies on the reporting date (2006:

EUR 159 thousand). In 2006, sales of EUR 144 thousand

(2006: EUR 64 thousand) were transacted with the heating

and air-conditioning installation company. 

Approved consulting agreements exist with the members of

the Supervisory Board. These agreements were associated

with total remuneration in 2007 of EUR 280 thousand (2006:

EUR 208 thousand), EUR 280 thousand (2006: EUR 139

thousand) of which had not been paid on 31 December 2007.
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(14.9) Executive bodies

Dr. h.c. Jochen Opländer was Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 30 March 2007. After his retirement from the
Supervisory Board, Dr. h.c. Jochen Opländer was appointed as its Honorary Chairman. 

Dortmund/Germany, 14 February 2008 

The Management Board

Supervisory Board

Dr. Heinz-Gerd Stein
Dinslaken, Germany
Chairman

Prof. Dr. Hans-Jörg Bullinger
Stuttgart, Germany
from 30 March 2007

Hans-Joachim Früh
Düsseldorf, Germany
from 30 March 2007

Herbert H. Jacobi
Düsseldorf, Germany
from 30 March 2007

Jan Opländer
Dortmund, Germany

Dieter Ortwein
Dortmund, Germany

Heinz-Peter Schmitz
Dortmund, Germany

Management Board

Dr. Thomas Schweisfurth 
Dortmund, Germany
Spokesman of the Board
from 1 January 2008 

Oliver Hermes
Essen, Germany

Jérôme Perrod 
Boulogne, Germany

Dr. Horst Dieter Elsner
Frechen, Germany
Chairman
until 31 December 2007

Dr. Thomas Schweisfurth Oliver Hermes Jérôme Perrod
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Shareholdings of WILO AG at 31 December 2007

Amount of holding in %

Allied Centrifugal Pumps Pvt. Ltd. Calcutta/India 100.00

Bombas WILO-SALMSON Portugal – Sistemas Hidráulicos, Lda. Porto/Portugal 100.00

CCD Pumps Ltd. London/United Kingdom *) 100.00

Circulating Pumps Ltd. King’s Lynn/United Kingdom 100.00

EMB Pumpen AG Rheinfelden/Switzerland 100.00

EMU I.D.F. S.A.R.L. Ste. Geneviève-des-Bois/France ***) 50.00

EMUPORT Abwassersysteme GmbH Minden/Germany 100.00

FLOM S.A.R.L. Couzon au Mont d’Or/France 100.00

Mather And Platt Fire Systems Ltd. Pune/India 55.48

Mather And Platt Pumps Ltd. Pune/India 62.84

POMPES SALMSON S.A.S. Chatou/France 100.00

Rotaqua GmbH Rheinfelden/Switzerland 100.00

S.E.S.E.M. S.A.S. Saint-Denis/France 100.00

SALMSON Argentina S.A. Buenos Aires/Argentina 100.00

SALMSON Italia s.r.l. Modena/Italy 100.00

SALMSON South Africa Ltd. Johannesburg/South Africa 100.00

STEMMA S.R.L. Trissino/Italy 100.00

WILO (UK) Ltd. Burton-on-Trent/United Kingdom 100.00

WILO Adriatic d.o.o. Ljubljana/Slovenia 100.00

WILO Baltic SIA Riga/Latvia 100.00

WILO Bel o.o.o. Minsk/Byelorussia 100.00

WILO Beograd d.o.o. Belgrade/Republic of Serbia 100.00

WILO Bulgaria EOOD Sofia/Bulgaria 100.00

WILO Canada Inc. Calgary/Canada 100.00

WILO Caspian LLC Baku/Azerbaijan 100.00

WILO Central Asia TOO Almaty/Kazakhstan 100.00

WILO China Ltd. Peking/China 100.00

WILO Danmark A/S Karlslunde/Denmark 100.00

WILO Eesti OÜ Tallinn/Estonia **) 100.00

WILO ELEC CO. Ltd. Qinhuangdao/China 100.00

WILO EMU Anlagenbau GmbH Roth/Germany 100.00

WILO EMU GmbH Hof/Germany 100.00

WILO-EMU Taiwan Co. Ltd. Taipeh/Taiwan 100.00

WILO-EMU USA LLC Thomasville, GA/USA 100.00

WILO Engineering Ltd. Limerick/Ireland 100.00

WILO Finland OY Espoo/Finland 100.00

WILO France S.A.S. Bois d´ Arcy/France 100.00

Shareholdings of WILO AG

Amount of holding in %

WILO Handelsgesellschaft mbH Vienna/Austria 100.00

WILO Hellas A.B.E.E. Athens/Greece 100.00

WILO Hrvatska d.o.o. Zagreb/Croatia 100.00

WILO Ibérica S.A. Alcalá de Henares/Spain 100.00

WILO Industriebeteiligungen GmbH Dortmund/Germany 100.00

WILO Intec S.A.S. Aubigny/France 100.00

WILO Italia s.r.l. Peschiera Borromeo (Milan)/Italy 100.00

WILO Lietuva UAB Vilnius/Lithuania 100.00

WILO Magyarország Kft. Törökbálint/Hungary 100.00

WILO Middle East LLC Riyadh/Saudi-Arabia ****) 50.00

WILO-Mitarbeiter-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Dortmund/Germany 100.00

WILO N.V./S.A. Ganshoren (Brussels)/Belgium 100.00

WILO Nederland b.v. Beverwijk/The Netherlands 100.00

WILO Nord Amerika GmbH Dortmund/Germany 100.00

WILO Norge AS Larvik/Norway 100.00

WILO Polska Sp.z.o.o. Raszyn (Warsaw)/Poland 100.00

WILO Pompa Sistemleri San. Ve Tic. A.S. Istanbul/Turkey 100.00

WILO Praha s.r.o. Prague/Czech Republic 100.00

WILO Pumps Ltd. Gimhae/Korea 100.00

WILO Pumps Ltd. Limerick/Ireland 100.00

WILO Romania s.r.l. Bucharest/Romania 100.00

WILO Rus o.o.o. Moscow/Russia 100.00

WILO-SALMSON France S.A.S. Chatou/France 100.00

WILO-SALMSON Lebanon S.A.R.L. Beirut/Lebanon 100.00

WILO Slovakia s.r.o. Bratislava/Republic of Slovakia 100.00

WILO Sverige AB Växjö/Sweden 100.00

WILO Ukrainia t.o.w. Kiev/Ukraine 100.00

WILO USA LLC Chicago/USA 100.00

*) This company was consolidated for the first time in 2007.
**) This company was not included in the 2007 consolidated financial statements.
***) This is an associated company that is reported in the balance sheet at cost.
****) This is a joint venture that is reported in the balance sheet at equity.

Shareholdings of WILO AG
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In the financial year 2007, the Supervisory Board continually

supervised the activities of the management board and 

provided it with advice and support. At regular meetings, the

board was informed in detail of the development of the WILO

Group's business and all factors affecting this development.

The management board provided the members of the Super-

visory Board with regular written reports on the Group's current

business situation and on its current and planned activities.

All measures requiring Supervisory Board approval were 

discussed in detail.

Various important issues were dealt with at the Supervisory

Board's ordinary meetings in 2007. The meeting of 30 March

2007 focused on the annual financial statements for 2006.

At the meeting of 27 June 2007, the management board and

the Supervisory Board discussed in detail the mid-term plans

submitted by the management board for the period 2008 to

2010. Aspects of investment controlling and reporting were

discussed in detail. The business strategy for the WILO Group's

Indian subsidiary was also on the agenda and the management

board reported on selected development projects. In October

2007, the Supervisory Board scrutinised the WILO Group's

regional activities in the Near and Middle East and North

America. In December 2007, the Supervisory Board approved

the annual budget for 2008. At the same meeting, it discussed

the aforementioned regional activities in the Near and Middle

East again.

The Supervisory Board meeting in December 2007 was not

attended by the management board. The efficiency of the

Supervisory Board's working methods and personnel matters

were discussed.

The Supervisory Board supported the development of the WILO

Group's business policy and strategy throughout the year,

particularly with regard to new production technologies, product

portfolio structure and personnel planning.

The consolidated financial statements which are included in

this annual report for 2007 and the financial statements of

WILO AG, each consisting of statement of income, balance

sheet, management report and notes, were audited by KPMG

Deutsche Treuhandgesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft, Wirt-

schaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Essen and furnished with an

unqualified audit opinion.

These documents were submitted to and examined in detail

by the Supervisory Board. The auditor attended the Supervisory

Board meeting in respect of the consolidated financial state-

ments on 10 April 2008, where he reported on significant

audit results and provided supplementary information. The

audit committee assisted the Supervisory Board with its 

preparations for this meeting and evaluated the results of 

the risk management system.

Report of the Supervisory Board
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Auditor’s report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared

by the WILO AG, Dortmund – consisting of the balance sheet,

the income statement, the statement of recognised income

and expenses, the cash flow statement and the notes to the

consolidated financial statements – and the group manage-

ment report for the financial year from 1 January 2007 to 31

December 2007. The preparation of the consolidated financial

statements and the group management report in accordance

with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union, and the additional

regulations of the German Commercial Code (HGB) pursuant

to section 315a paragraph 1 HGB are the responsibility of the

parent company’s management. Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on

the group management report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with section 317 of the German

Commercial Code (HGB) under consideration of the German

generally accepted auditing standards as determined by the

German Institute of Chartered Accountants (Institut der

Wirtschaftsprüfer, IDW). Those standards require that we plan

and conduct the audit in such a manner that misstatements

and violations that materially affect the presentation of the

net assets, financial position and results of operations in the

consolidated financial statements in accordance with the

applicable financial reporting framework and in the group

management report are detected with reasonable assurance.

Knowledge of the Group's business activities, the economic

and legal frameworks in which it operates and expectations

with regard to possible misstatements are taken into account

in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness

of the accounting-related internal control system and the

evidence supporting the disclosures made in the consolidated

financial statements and the group management report are

examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of

the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial

statements of consolidated entities, the determination of

entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and

consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by

the company's legal representatives, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements

and group management report. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit did not give rise to any objections.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-

dated financial statements comply with IFRS accounting

requirements as adopted by the European Union, and the

supplementary regulations to be applied according to section

315a, paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and

they give a true and fair view of the Group's net assets, financial

position and results of operations in accordance with these

requirements. The group management report is consistent

with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole

provides a suitable view of the Group's position and suitably

presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Essen, 15 February 2008

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft 

Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Beumer Huperz

Auditor Auditor
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After a thorough examination of the financial statements,

the Supervisory Board agreed with the opinion of the auditor.

The Supervisory Board also agreed to the proposal regarding

the appropriation of WILO AG's net profit for the year.

The Supervisory Board membership structure changed in the

year under review. At the end of the shareholders' meeting of

30 March 2007, Dr. Jochen Opländer and Mr Herbert H. Jacobi

resigned from their positions on the Supervisory Board. Mr

Hans-Joachim Früh and Professor Bullinger were appointed

to the Supervisory Board in their place. The Supervisory Board

would like to thank Dr. Jochen Opländer and Mr Herbert H.

Jacobi for their valuable contributions to the work and success

of the board and for their many years of service. Dr. Jochen

Opländer has been appointed as honorary chairman of the

Supervisory Board.

To ensure responsible management practices, WILO AG and

its executive bodies act in accordance with the German

Corporate Governance Code, as amended on 12 June 2006

and in the version applicable as of 14 June 2007. Exceptions

are made in company-specific cases (these relate mainly to

the preparation and implementation of shareholders' meetings,

the publication of reports and Supervisory Board committees)

and with regard to the disclosure of the remuneration of

Supervisory Board and management board members. In the

latter case, we comply with legal requirements. Deviations

from the Code have again been detailed in a declaration of

conformity in accordance with section 161 of the German

Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) for banks and

institutional partners. 

Subject to the above provisos, WILO AG also intends to 

continue complying with the recommendations of the

Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance

Code as amended on 14 June 2007 in the future. 

2007 was a good year for WILO. The Supervisory Board would

like to thank the management board and the employees of

the WILO Group for their commitment and hard work. Once

again, they have contributed to a very successful year at WILO.

Dortmund, Germany, April 2008

The Supervisory Board

Dr. Heinz-Gerd Stein

Chairman
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Hydrodynamics (also called fluid dynamics): An area of the

science of fluid mechanics which deals with the dynamics of

liquids and gases. It examines laminar and turbulent flows in

open and closed channels, as well as motions and power

loads in pressurised piping systems.

IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards): A collect-

ive term for all rules and interpretations that are relevant for

the international financial statements of the WILO Group.

International Accounting Standards (IAS), International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRS), the interpretations of the Standing

Interpretations Committee (SIC) and of the International

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).

LCC (Life Cycle Costs): All costs generated by a product

throughout its entire lifecycle. The life cycle covers all phases

from procurement, through installation, operation and main-

tenance to the decommissioning and disposal of the product.

NPSH (Net Positive Suction Head) value: A term that origi-

nated in the USA. Net positive suction head is a quantity

important in suction pump design. In simple terms, NPSH is a

method of evaluating a set of suction conditions for a pump. 

OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer): Manufacturers who

use our pumps as integrated components of their products

(e.g. machine tools, wall heaters or air-conditioning systems).

Pressure drainage: Inexpensive process for sewage drainage

across long distances. The sewage is transported via a narrow

bore pressure pipeline into the public sewer or directly to the

sewage treatment plant. 

Pressure booster systems: These facilitate the supply of water

in buildings where sufficient pressure of mains water is not

available to supply water to all consumers/storeys.

ROCE (Return On Capital Employed): The interest earned on

invested capital over a specific period.

Simultaneous engineering: A way of simultaneously designing

products, and the processes for manufacturing those products,

through the use of cross-functional teams to assure manu-

facturability, eliminate the need for later product modifications

and reduce cycle time. Simultaneous engineering involves the

overlapping of processes that are normally implemented in

sequence. As soon as enough information has been obtained

in one process, the next process is started up.

Solids separation system: Latest WILO technology. A system

for solid filtering before they reach the pump with immediate

backwashing that enhances efficiency by minimising the

number of backwashes required. The pre-filtering process

also effectively prevents blockages in the hydraulics.

UL (Underwriters Laboratories) certification: Underwriters

Laboratories is an organisation that was founded in the USA

in 1894 that audits and certifies products and product safety.

The UL mark can be found on many electrical products.

Wet-running pumps: In this type of pump, the rotating part of

the electric motor runs in the pumping medium. This type of

pump is practically maintenance-free and operates very quietly.

Glossary

At-equity: Valuation using the equity method, which is used

for companies whose participating interests give them consid-

erable influence on the company's business policy. Changes

in equity at these companies have an impact on the carrying

amounts of the shareholdings.

Axial split-case pumps: Pumps with an axially split volute

casing. Used for applications requiring high delivery rates in

circulation systems or for water supply, mainly in Asian coun-

tries or when plants are built according to US specifications.

Bus technology: A technology in which several network par-

ticipants communicate via a shared communication medium. 

Cash flow: The net inflow of liquid funds from business 

operations.

CIP (Continuous Improvement Process): Step-by-step 

continuous improvement of product, process and service

quality through teamwork. CIP is a basic principle of quality

management and an indispensable aspect of ISO 9001.

CSA (Canadian Standards Association): A non-government

organisation that establishes standards, implements safety

audits on products and certifies them. It was founded in

Canada in 1919 and now operates internationally. The CSA

issues its own mark of conformity which is very important in

the USA and Canada.

Decentralised pump system: Latest WILO technology. Unlike

conventional systems where heating pumps are centrally

installed in a boiler room, all consumers/storeys have their

own pumps. This enables the individual adjustment of the

pumps for maximum heating convenience and minimum

energy consumption.

EBIT/EBITDA: EBIT stands for Earnings Before Interest and

Taxes. EBITDA stands for Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,

Depreciation and Amortisation.

ECM technology: An “Electronically Commutated Motor“ is a

motor in which the rotating field is generated independently

of the network frequency.

Energy efficiency class: A measure of the relative efficiency

of energy-saving electrical appliances to support purchase

decisions.

Frequency converter: Latest WILO technology. Enables the

extreme energy-saving regulation of the pump's rotational

speed, particularly in partial load operation. The pumps intelli-

gently adapt their rotational speed to requirements and only

use as much energy as is actually needed.

Geothermal heat: Heat that is stored in the upper part of the

earth's crust. It is a renewable energy source that can be directly

incorporated in heating and cooling applications with heat

pump heating systems.

Glanded pumps: In this type of pump, the drive motor does

not come into contact with the pumping medium and, as a

result, the rotating part of the motor remains dry.

High-efficiency: Efficiency is defined in terms of the ratio of

performance to total energy expended. High efficiency means

the achievement of maximum performance with the minimum

of energy consumption, which conserves natural resources

and reduces environmental damage. The best example is

the world's first high efficiency pump for heating and air-

conditioning, the WILO Stratos. It attains advanced levels of

efficiency and offers potential energy savings of up to 80%

compared with conventional pumps.






